
Health and Wellbeing Board 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board to be held as 
follows for the transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
DATE: Tuesday, 10 September 2019

TIME: 2.00 pm

VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014,’ the 
press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record this meeting. 

AGENDA

2.00PM 

1  Welcome and Introductions. (Chair) 

2  QUESTIONS - From Members of the Public. (Chair) 

3  Apologies for absence. (Chair) 

4  Declarations of Interest. (Chair) 

The Chair to invite members of the Board to declare any interests.

5  Minutes of Meeting held on Tuesday 14 May 2019. (Chair) (Pages 1 - 6)

6  Matters arising. (Chair) 

2.15PM 

7  Salford Safeguarding Adults Peer Review and Response Report 
(Steve Pugh) 

(Pages 7 - 30)

2.25PM 

8  Salford Locality Plan - progress update: (Anthony Hassall) (Pages 31 - 38)

2.40PM 

9  Co-production What, Who and How? (Chris Dabbs) 

Development Session: outcome report from Friday 19 July 2019

(Pages 39 - 46)

Public Document Pack



2.55PM 

10  Draft Salford Locality Plan refresh proposals/outline (Peter 
Brambleby) 

(Pages 47 - 56)

3.25PM 

11  Salford's VCSE Strategies and Agreements Update (to follow) 
(Alison Page) 

3.35PM 

12  Salford Inter-Board Protocol and Board Sub-Groups (Peter 
Brambleby) 

(Pages 57 - 82)

3.40PM 

13  Salford Health Protection Annual Report (Bev Wasp) (Pages 83 - 110)

3.45PM 

14  Draft Salford E-Cigarette Statement (Peter Brambleby) (Pages 111 - 112)

3.50PM 

15  Any Other Business (Chair) 

16  Update Papers (Provided for Information and Assurance 
Purposes Only) (Chair) 

16a 2019/20 Salford Health and Well-being Board Forward Plan (Pages 113 - 114)

17  Date and Time of Next Meeting - Tuesday 12 November 2019 
(2pm - 4pm) 

The next meetings of the Board have been scheduled as 
follows:

Tuesday 11 February 2020 2pm - 4pm
Tuesday 12 May 2020 2pm - 4pm
Tuesday 8 September 2020 2pm - 4pm
Tuesday 10 November 2020 2pm - 4pm
Tuesday 9 February 2021 2pm - 4pm

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3011
Mike McHugh, Senior Democratic Services 
Advisior

E-Mail: mike.mchugh@salford.gov.uk



1 | P a g e

SALFORD HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

14 May 2019

Meeting commenced: 2.00 p.m.
“                 ended: 3.57 p.m.

PRESENT: Councillor Tom Tasker – in the Chair

Members:

Councillor Gina Reynolds LA Representative
Councillor John Walsh LA Representative
Alison Page Salford CVS
Paul Duggan Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service
Lee Sugden Salford Strategic Housing Partnership
Councillor Jane Hamilton LA Representative
Delana Lawson Healthwatch Salford
Councillor Tracy Kelly LA Representative
Tara Kearney SRFT
Lynne Stafford VCSE Sector
Charlotte Ramsden Strategic Director for People
Peter Brambleby Interim Director of Public Health

Invitees:

Hannah Dobrowolska Salford CCG
James McInerney Public Health Strategic Manager

Officers:

Chris Howl Policy and Equality Officer
Mike McHugh Senior Democratic Services Advisor

ITEM ACTION BY
1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 

Tom Tasker welcomed those present to the meeting of the Salford 
Health and Wellbeing Board.

-

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Jillian 
Collinson and John Merry, and Anthony Hassall, Chris Dabbs, Phil 
Morgan, Gill Green, Ben Ewart and Margaret Rowe.

-

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

14 May 2019

2 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
3. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

Glenn Buckley presented a question, as follows -

“We want more accessible places in top hospitals in Salford and 
Greater Manchester. Let’s hope they agree to it”

Mr Buckley expanded his question on discussion to talk about physical
access to hospitals such as ramps, automatic doors and ‘Changing 
places’ standard toilets. He is concerned people with mobility needs do 
not have equal access to hospitals and hospital care. 

Tom Tasker provided a brief response and indicated that a full 
response to the question would be formally provided in writing.

-

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest. -

5. MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

The minutes of the meeting held on 12 February 2019 were approved 
as a correct record.

-

6. MATTERS ARISING - REVIEW OF ACTION LOG

An update was provided in respect of issues contained within the 
Action Log.

-

7. LOCALITY PLAN - PROGRESS UPDATE

Hannah Dobrowolska gave a presentation providing an update in 
respect of this item which was based upon information regarding 
performance across the programme, ensuring alignment and challenge 
across the system. 

She provided key highlights for the period: Quarter 4 2018 /19, as 
follows -

(a) PREVENTION: Upgrading population health, prevention and 
self-care

- Population Health:
- Best Start in Life:
- Wider determinants of health and wellbeing:
- Risks / issues and mitigation

Page 2



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

14 May 2019

3 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
(b) BETTER CARE: Transforming community based care and 

support and standardising acute and specialist care

- Quality:
- Integrated Care System:
- Major Trauma and Healthier Together (HT):
- Risks / issues and mitigation

(c) ENABLING TRANSFORMATION: Standardising clinical support 
and back office services and enabling better public services

- Integrated commissioning and enhanced support 
services:

- Information management and technology:
- Estates:
- Workforce:
- Enabling Voluntary Community Social Enterprise (VCSE) 

delivery:
- Risks / issues and mitigation

RESOLVED: THAT the presentation be noted. -

8. BETTER POPULATION OUTCOMES THROUGH COMMISSIONING 
AND LEADERSHIP

Peter Brambleby gave a presentation including details, as follows -

- “Better outcomes through leadership in commissioning”

The evolving role of the Health and Wellbeing Board

Adding years to life;
adding life to years.

- “Life” is a chronic condition!

• Typical duration in Salford is 77 years for men, 81 years 
for women…

• Universally fatal …
• Sexually transmitted … 
• Complications are common … healthy life expectancy in 

Salford is 58 years for men, 59 years for women
• Most of “life” is managed at home, not hospital

Page 3



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

14 May 2019

4 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
- The “life trajectory” is affected by risky behaviours, eg:

• Breathing
• Eating
• Going out
• Staying at home
• Having sex
• Using social media
• Seeing the doctor

Therefore we must adopt harm reduction, making these 
activities as safe as possible.

- “Determinants” of healthy life

- What about commissioning and provision of services?

• Not just “supply” and “demand”, but “need”
• When it comes to commissioning or providing services 

for health and wellbeing how do we, as a Board, 
understand and coordinate these three?

- What is “need” for services?

“Need” is the ability to benefit from a service - a measurable 
change in health or wellbeing attributable to the intervention.
“Need for services” is elastic, and defined locally by Council or 
CCG, or nationally by government policy or expert guidance, eg 
NICE.
“Prevention” and “empowerment” are tools for reducing “need”.

- What is “demand”?

Demand is what people ask for.  It is not necessarily what they 
need, ie they may not benefit or may not meet eligibility criteria.
Caution:“choice”, “patient-led” and “client-led” may reflect 
demand, not need.

- What is “supply”?

Supply is what is made available (funded, provided, 
commissioned) by the caring agencies.

- Conclusion 1: “USP” of HWB

Page 4



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

14 May 2019

5 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY

• Unique status in statute
• Uniquely constituted to scrutinise the whole person-pathway 

from conception to dying: starting well, living well, ageing well, 
dying well

• Uniquely placed to scrutinise all aspects of health and 
wellbeing, from causes to consequenses

• Uniquely placed to “hold the ring” for all the other Boards and 
Committees in the Salford System

• Uniquely placed to challenge the status quo

- Conclusion 2: purpose of HWB

A forum for joining things up

• Joint understanding of needs and resources to inform other 
Boards and Committees (eg JSNA; locality profiling: 
inequalities, determinants and scope for prevention)

• Joint oversight of all health and wellbeing-related strategies and 
plans (eg Locality Plan and neighbourhood plans)

• Joined-up commissioning intentions (eg advice to 
Commissioning Board)

• Joined-up appraisal of outcomes, public experiences and value
for money (eg Locality Plan Dashboard)

- Conclusion 3: role of HWB

• An engine-room for the wider Salford system, generating: 
- Ideas and innovation
- Advice and information
- Challenge and support
- Coordination and integration
- Advocacy and campaigning
- Feedback and learning

• … but not necessarily the driver - not necessarily a 
decision-making body

RESOLVED: (1) THAT the presentation be noted.

(2) THAT further updates in the development of the 
Board be presented at a Development Session to be held in July 2019.

Page 5



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

14 May 2019

6 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
9. CARER'S CHARTER/ MODEL - SALFORD UPDATE

Lynne Stafford submitted a report which had been considered at the 
meeting of the Greater Manchester Health and Care Board on 8 March 
2019 in respect of Greater Manchester support to Carers: Locality 
progress update and future recommendations.

Discussion took place in respect of a number of issues, including work 
being undertaken in Salford to implement the model locally.

RESOLVED: (1) THAT the update be noted.

(2) THAT further updates in respect of the matter be 
presented at future meetings of this Board.

-

Lynne Stafford

10. ANY OTHER BUSINESS

There were no items of any other business.

11. UPDATE PAPERS

The following papers were submitted for the information of the Board –

a) 2019/20 Salford Health and Well-being Board Forward Plan

b) Salford Special Education Need Annual Report 2017/18

c) Salford Child and Adolescent Mental Health Transformation 
Plan: 2015-2020 (Updated March 2019).

12. DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

RESOLVED: THAT the next meeting of the Board be held on Tuesday 
10 September 2019 (2.00pm to 4.00pm).

-

Page 6



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Salford  
Safeguarding Adults 
Board 
 
Adults Safeguarding 
Peer Challenge Report 
 
April 2019 
 
 

 

Yorkshire & Humberside 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



 

1 
 

 
 
 
Table of contents  

 
 

Introduction…………….. ..................................................... 2 

Leadership, Strategy and Commissioning ........................... 4 

Outcomes for People who use Services…………… ................ ……8 

Effective Practice, Service Delivery and Performance 
Management  ......................................................... 11 

Working Together  ............................................................ 14 

Case file audit ……………………….....…………………......18 

Safeguarding Resources………………………………….…..20 

Contact information………………………..…………………..21 

Appendix 1 – Adult Safeguarding Improvement Tool –  March 
2015……………………………………………………………..22 

 

  

Page 8



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 2 

Introduction 
 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board (SSAB) requested that the Yorkshire and 
Humber ADASS undertake an Adult Safeguarding Peer Challenge of the SAB.  The 
work was commissioned by Salford Safeguarding Adults Board. The Adult 
Safeguarding Board was seeking an external view on the work of the SAB around 
partnership working and governance in their integrated organisation.  

The SAB intends to use the findings of this peer challenge as a marker on its 
improvement journey. The SAB asked us to consider their position on: 

 

 Performance and Quality, 

 Effective Communication  

 Multi-agency training  

 The application of MSP and how the Board is assured of this 

 Collaborative working – supporting, communicating and holding partners to 
account  

 Leadership 

 Integrated systems 

1. A peer challenge is designed to help assess current achievements, areas for 
development and capacity to change. The peer challenge is not an inspection. 
Instead it offers a supportive approach, undertaken by friends – albeit ‘critical 
friends’. It aims to help an organisation and its partners identify current 
strengths, as much as what it needs to improve. But it should also provide it with 
a basis for further improvement. 

2. The benchmark for this peer challenge was the Adult Safeguarding Improvement 
Tool, March 2015.  The Standards for Adult Safeguarding are at Appendix 1. 
These were used as headings in the feedback with an addition of the scoping 
questions outlined above.  The headline themes were: 

 Leadership, Strategy and Commissioning 

 Outcomes for, and the experiences of, people who use services 

 Service Delivery, Effective Practice and Performance Management 

 Working Together 

3. The members of the peer challenge team were: 

 Bev Maybury, Lead Peer, DASS, Bradford Council  

 Wendy Barker.  Deputy Director of Nursing, NHS England and NHS 
Improvement – North East and Yorkshire Region 

 Kyra Ayre, Head of Service, Adult Safeguarding, City of York Council 

Page 9



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 3 

 Jackie Scantlebury, Safeguarding Adults Board Manager, Rotherham 

 Shona McFarlane, Deputy Director Leeds City Council (Case file audit) 

 Venita Kanwar, Peer Challenge Manager, LGA Associate 

 Dave Roddis, Programme Director, Yorkshire and Humber ADASS 

4. The team was on-site from 4th – 5th April 2019.  The programme for the on-site 
phase included activities designed to enable members of the team to meet and 
talk to a range of SAB Board Members, partners and external stakeholders. 
These activities included:  

 interviews and discussions with councillors, officers, people who use services 
and partners  

 reading documents provided by the SAB, including a self-assessment of 
progress, strengths and areas for improvement 

 comprehensive audit of 14 individual service records carried out by two Heads 
of Service and Safeguarding leads, who are multi-agency working. 

5. The peer challenge team would like to thank staff, people using services, 
partners, commissioned providers, and councillors for their open and 
constructive responses during the challenge process.  

6. Our feedback presentation to the SAB on the last day of the challenge gave an 
overview of the key messages. This report builds on the headlines and gives a 
more detailed account of the challenge.  

Page 10



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 4 

   

Leadership, Strategy and Commissioning 

Strengths 

• The Board has a good culture of being open and receptive to challenge 

• Chair of the Board is committed and regarded as inclusive, partners feel 
valued 

• Well managed, well organised Board with great relationships 

• Director of Adult Social Care at Board level 

• Well briefed and engaged lead member 

• Salford has good examples of improving services and quality  

• Strengthened social care leadership in the integrated setting 

• Everyone has bought into integration – this is a single functioning organisation 

 

Areas for consideration  

• Structure and length of the Board meeting can be an issue, as agenda items 
generate constructive discussion which results in over running meetings. 
However, members believe that it is always chaired well 

• Need for improved working across Boards especially with Community Safety 
Partnership and Children's Board 

• Reflect on the role of the sub-groups 

• Assurance processes 

• Connectivity horizontal and vertically 

• Frequency 

• Membership 

• Consider formal induction for board members and sub group members. 

• Lots of good stuff happening, how do you know it is having an impact on 
people? 

• The Board should harness the energy of the voluntary sector and probably 
would benefit from a 3rd sector sub group 

• A 360 Degree look may be beneficial to the Board 
 

 
7. In 2016, organisations in Salford which included the Council, the Clinical 

Commissioning Group (CCG), Salford Primary Care Together, Salford Royal 
Foundation Trust, Greater Manchester Mental Health and Salford Community 
and Voluntary Sector entered into a partnership to form Salford Together.  
Salford Together is an Integrated Care Organisation (ICO).  Staff from across 
the NHS organisations and the council were brought together into the ICO, 
which was one of the first ICOs in England.  The ICO has enabled more than 
2,000 health and social care staff (including district nurses, social workers, 
hospital staff, and mental health professionals) to work within one organisation, 
with the aim of creating a more streamlined service for people who use health 

Page 11



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 5 

and social care services.  The Salford Care Organisation has implemented an 
integrated governance and assurance framework and hold divisional assurance 
meetings on a monthly basis to consider (a) Quality and Experience (b) Finance 
and information (c) Operations and performance. 

8. The peer team heard of pooled budgets since 2014 which currently stands at a 
budget that is pooled as much as it can be legally possible.  The ambition for 
integration is evident at every level we spoke with and partners speak highly of 
the Integrated Care Organisation  

9. Salford Safeguarding Adults Board SSAB) can be justifiably proud of the 
strengths that have been identified with regard to the leadership of the 
Safeguarding Adults Board working across organisations as an integrated 
system, this was seen as something very special.   

10. The peer team recognise that the achievements for safeguarding adults has 
been the culmination of years of work and engagement activity coupled with the 
utilisation of individual people’s skills, expertise and knowledge, and 
demonstrates huge levels of commitment to all who are part of and delivering on 
behalf of the SAB.  The Board has been cited by many people interviewed that it 
has a culture of being open and receptive to challenge and this is a very strong 
foundation to build upon within the Integrated Care Organisation (ICO).   

11. The peer team found that the passion for safeguarding people was articulated at 
all levels of the Council and included a clear commitment from the Council’s 
Director of People who gets her assurance from the Board, the Chair of the 
SAB, the Lead Member for Adult Services and the new Director, and Divisional 
Director of Adult Social Care.  The passion for safeguarding is filtered through 
the partner organisations and was evidenced by the people that the peer team 
met.  

12. The chair of the SAB is highly thought of and well regarded by the Board 
members, and senior officers that the peer team met.  The passion for 
safeguarding adults is evident.  There was a real sense of people belonging to 
the Board and, all partners felt involved, valued and engaged.  There was 
appropriate and positive challenge from the Chair of the SAB, who holds people 
to account.  The commitment from partners was evident by their engagement. 

13. The Director of Adult Social Care has an equal voice and influence at Director 
level within the ICO, with parity on decision making on the Salford Royal 
Foundation Trust’s Board.  This was a valued position.  The new roles of 
Director of Adult Social Care and Divisional Director of Adult Social Care have 
strengthened social care leadership in the integrated setting 

14. It was evident to the peer team that the Lead Member for Adult Social Care, 
despite having a large portfolio was well engaged and knowledgeable.  The 
Lead Member spoke of the journey Salford had undertaken in becoming an ICO 
but spoke of the benefits of joint working and the learning undertaken by local 
authority and health partners in achieving integrated services, some of this work 
was facilitated by the Kings Fund, which the CCG commissioned.  

15. The support for SSAB is provided by one full time Business Manager and one 
full time Senior Business Administrator.  Two additional fixed term posts to 

Page 12



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 6 

support the work are a Performance and Quality Officers post (funded October 
2017 to September 2019) and a Training and Development Officer post (funded 
April 2018 – April 2020).  Since February 2019 the permanent Board Manager is 
acting into a different role for 2.5 days a week and subsequently the Training 
and Development Officer has been acting up as Board manager for 2.5 days, 
meaning that the board manager role is currently filled on a job-share basis.  
The peer team noted that the joint Board Managers were widely recognised as 
key to organising the work of the Board, which the team had been told had 
become more structured since the board manager came into post.  They were 
seen as pivotal to delivering the work of the Board and the sub groups.  
Partners clearly recognised that significant progress had been made since the 
Board Manager had been in post they were seen as important in the 
coordination of the Board’s functions, processes and programmes.  

16. The SSAB has commissioned an independent consultant to review resource 
requirements across the strategic boards for areas of shared work that will 
inform further decisions about support roles in the SSAB. 

17. There have been examples cited of where the Board has improved services and 
quality, and this was strongly evident of the work carried out following “Andy”, 
where collaborative working has improved safety in provider organisations, and 
the work of the “Practitioners Forum” where front line staff are directly linked into 
the work of the Board, raising awareness for the front line around key 
safeguarding policy implementation, and an opportunity to feed into the work of 
the Board.   

18. The peer team felt a strong sense that everyone we met had bought into the 
integrated system.  It felt like people belonged to a single organisation and this 
is a commendable achievement. 

19. While Board meetings were well chaired, the peer team felt that consideration 
should be given to the length of the meetings and the number of agenda items.  
There is a lot of work to get through, and the peer team heard that this could 
sometimes be an issue for Board members.   

20. Boards are clearly working collaboratively, for example we have heard of a 
regular joint Board meetings with the Children’s SAB, and have heard that 
Salford’s Chief Executive, has been working with Board Chairs to facilitate 
closer links.  However, further work could be done to work more closely with 
Community Safety Partnerships, particularly around safeguarding of people who 
may have been trafficked, around the Prevent agenda and radicalisation, and 
working with gangs.  There are further opportunities for improving the 
connections, with the Children’s Safeguarding Board to work in a preventative 
way, particularly with those children who may have been subjected to abuse or 
sexual exploitation as children and who as adults will require support. 

21. SSAB could reflect further on the role of the sub groups, and strengthening the 
Board’s overarching assurance of the work coming out of the sub groups.  The 
peer team’s perception was that the groups were working well, with strong 
relationships, but is there sufficient challenge from the Board and does the data 
provided, lead you to be assured that the groups are working well?  The peer 
team would ask the SSAB to consider how it reviews the effectiveness of its sub 
groups and how it ensures they are sustainable. What might happen if key 

Page 13



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 7 

people were to leave, and if performance of the groups started to diminish, how 
would the Board know?  Reflect upon the process of assurance, and think about 
the connectivity across Boards and sub groups.  This is in terms of the learning 
from others and the communication horizontally and vertically, and how that 
connects and provides assurance.  SSAB may also want to look at the 
frequency of sub-groups to ensure they timely enough for all to be engaged and 
are not resource intensive. 

22. That is not to say that there is not a great deal of excellent work in progress, the 
peer team would pose the question, how do you measure the impact of your 
good work on the people of Salford, and understand at your fingertips the direct 
correlation of the work you do, and how things are improved for people using 
services?   

23. A formal induction for people new to the Board could improve people’s 
understanding and contribution to the work of the Board and also highlight and 
clarify people’s roles and responsibilities.  Partners have very varied roles and 
work to different legislation requiring specific actions to that organisations.  
Understanding the explicit requirements of each partner, could prevent any 
misunderstandings and tensions, and improve the streamlining of service 
delivery and practice.  

24. The peer team have heard very positive things about the “soft landing” which 
describes the effortless way in which Adult Social Care (ASC) and Health 
became the ICO.  The “soft landing” the peer team believe might have resulted 
in not having the detailed structural debates that set out the absolute clarity of 
roles and responsibilities to the degree that they should.  The peer team heard 
“Soft landing, so soft we didn’t notice it”.   

25.  Salford SAB should harness the energy and enthusiasm of the voluntary sector.  
Consider setting up a sub group specifically for the Third Sector, colleagues 
have stated that they would welcome this!  A sub group would help the sector to 
be more fully involved, they have a great deal to offer. 

26. The peer team felt that the Board was well established, had worked well within 
the ICO, with strong relationships.  It was felt that the Board may benefit from a 
360 degree look at roles, responsibilities and impact, to further establish if there 
were skills gaps that could be addressed.  Though it may not currently be an 
issue currently, the SSAB may wish to consider succession planning for the 
future.  There is a great deal of organisational knowledge and memory in 
Salford and this should be harnessed before it becomes too late, and the 
opportunity to do so is missed, as the organisation evolves and changes.  

  

Page 14



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 8 

 

Outcomes for and the experiences of people who use 
services. 

Strengths 

• You have recognised that community engagement and hearing the voice of 
the person is important and you are doing something about it. 

• Case studies presented at the start of every Board meeting 

• Commissioned an in depth piece of work to look at service users and their 
views of the safeguarding process. 

• Writing Communication and Engagement Strategy with a wide range of 
involvement. 

• A strong feeling that integration has led to better communication and more 
person-centred approach for professionals 

Areas for Consideration 

• The use of the service user voice and experience needs strengthening at the 
Board level as part of the improvement cycle.  

• Service User Stories – increase referrals, ensure there is a good 
representative sample, learning and action takes place.  

• Wider engagement needs consideration particularly with diverse and hard to 
reach communities – consider linking better with ward members and 
community groups 

• People who are still unsafe after safeguarding input – what are you doing to 
complete the loop?  Are you asking the right questions? 

• Further investment in the promotion and raising awareness of adult 
safeguarding to the people of Salford 

• Service User we met could bring value to the Board – he is an Ambassador! 
 

27. It was clearly evidenced to the peer challenge team that the Board have 
significantly worked on ensuring that that the service user voice is part of the 
SSAB business.  This remains a priority for the Board and it continues to find 
ways of doing so without being tokenistic.   

28. Real service user case studies are presented at the beginning of every Board 
meeting.  This grounds the meeting from the very start with the user experience 
at the heart of the Board and sets the tone for the meeting.  The Board might 
want to consider how it can evidence it has learnt, adapted or influenced a 
change in practice or policy following a service-user story.  Service-user stories 
do not also have a positive outcome.  

Page 15



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 9 

29. An in-depth piece of work has been commissioned to look at people who have 
been through the safeguarding process to better understand their views 
regarding their experience.  This has helped to further improve the way you are 
continuing to engage with service users but the Board must be assured that all 
service users groups are represented and all feedback good and bad is 
reported and acted upon. 

30. We recognise that you are writing a communication and engagement strategy 
which will have a wide range of involvement.  So far we have heard that ten 
groups across Salford have been involved, as have the Practitioners Forum.  
However, officers and partners are aware that more needs to be done to reach 
the very hard to hear groups.  Salford has improved publicity around 
safeguarding following consultation and a re-branding of leaflets is now in draft 
stage. 

31. There is a really strong feeling that integration has led to better communication 
and more person-centred approach for professionals, this is demonstrated by 
the work carried out with Care Providers to improve CQC ratings and standards. 

32. The peer review team heard time and again during our interviews with Board 
members, providers and front-line staff that Making Safeguarding Personal 
(MSP) is being embedded across the ICO.  Operational staff understood and 
articulated the language of MSP and the importance of developing a 
safeguarding culture that focuses on the personalised outcomes desired by 
people with care and support needs who may have been abused.  Evidence 
was available that all partners have self-assessed against the MSP framework 
and the Board can assure themselves that work continues to deliver Making 
Safeguarding Personal.  The language and approach of MSP however, could be 
better reflected in the safeguarding paperwork for example there was use of 
terms such as strategy meeting and case conference rather than planning 
meeting. 

33. Salford SAB recognises the voice of people using services being heard at Board 
level is a priority and whilst it has grappled with this, we feel that it is an area 
which requires further enhancement.  For example, the peer team struggled to 
find how the service user/patient’s stories read at Board had made a difference 
to the work of the Board, informed practice or identified action and work 
programmes of the sub groups or to the people who need safeguarding?   

34. If SSAB strengthen the voice of people there is still an issue which is not unique 
to Salford, about how you get the message of safeguarding to your 
communities?  Some thought could be giving to the wider public particularly 
hard to reach groups and difficult communities to communicate with.  A possible 
route into communities could be by linking in with your elected members and 
community groups through established forums.  Your elected members are your 
eyes and ears on the street and have a wealth of information which the Board 
could harness in getting the message out to localities.  If SSAB could 
demonstrate that adult safeguarding is as important as children’s safeguarding, 
then Salford will have succeeded in raising awareness. 

35. From the dashboard performance data that was shared, we noted that there are 
still people who speak of feeling unsafe after they have been through 
safeguarding system.  We were unclear what the safeguarding system was 

Page 16



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 10 

providing for those people who continue to feel unsafe.  Are practitioners asking 
the right question around safety and feeling safe, and can you confidently close 
the loop?   

36. There are a lot of good initiatives and developments around service user 
engagement that are producing case studies and soft intelligence, but it was 
unclear to the peer team what learning and action was being undertaken from 
these valuable pieces of information.   

37. During the service-user session the peer team met an amazing young man who 
is passionate about speaking up for vulnerable groups at risk of exploitation.  He 
is a volunteer at Healthwatch, and chairs a learning disability forum to name but 
a few of his roles.  He has recently become an ambassador for the North West 
and received an award for his work in speaking out for hard to be heard groups, 
he received over 12,000 votes.  He was an engaged, enthusiastic, energetic 
and fascinating individual who would value the opportunity to come to Board 
and tell you about his experiences.  The Board could consider inviting him once 
to give a service-user perspective instead of reading out a service user story at 
one of the Board meetings.  The peer team would urge SSAB to invite him. 
 

38. We heard from a number of people that the next step for Salford SAB is to 
further promote safeguarding adults and the work it does better to the people of 
Salford.  Systems have been set up to take in referrals from the public however 
there is a low take up and more could be done in the form of promotional 
campaigns to raise awareness and increase vigilance.  The peer team found 
that referrals were predominantly from professional staff and suggest the SAB 
consider engaging elected members as champions for the Board.  In turn, this 
could help increase your current level of service user engagement.  We heard 
that members of the public could complete an electronic referral form, but that 
there were limited referrals directly into the safeguarding portal.   

  

Page 17



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 11 

Service delivery, effective practice and performance 
management 

Strengths 

• Really good multi disciplinary training, valued by partners. 

• Some examples of intelligent use of data to identify issues and improve 
practice e.g. use of advocacy and MCA training 

• Self-Neglect and Hoarding Multi-Agency Guidance and Procedures, this is an 
area of best practice  

• Safeguarding Practitioners Forum is an asset 

• Opportunities in the Multi-disciplinary groups in the 5 areas is valued and 
useful 

• Performance Dashboard in place and recognise it’s work in progress 

Areas for Consideration 

• Have you reflected the service user voice in your training programme 

• SAR could be strengthened particularly in how you disseminate lessons 
learned and make use of lessons from national SARs 

• Where is the oversight of serious incidents? Triangulation with other data 
sources 

• Performance dashboard heavily weighted on ASC, needs to become a 
system dashboard  

• Issues around Police investigation timescales emerging 

39. There was evidence of multi-disciplinary training that was valued by partners 
and all partners would welcome more collaborative training sessions that 
included social care, health and GP’s.  The Board needs to be assured that 
Mental Health services are included and considered in all training aspects as 
the service feels isolated and disconnected.    

40. There is a performance dashboard in place which supports the Board and the 
Performance and Quality sub-group.  The peer team and SSAB recognise that 
this is work in progress and it is continually reviewed to ensure that the data 
captured is relevant and gets underneath any issues identified.  The peer team 
heard some examples of intelligent use of dashboard data to identify issues and 
improve practice e.g. use of advocacy and MCA training.  For example, we 
heard that there was a disconnect between the data on MCA and staff’s 
understanding of the implementation of MCA in practice which required further 
training.  Further interrogation identified that it was much more than training that 
was needed, and the issue has been resolved.  Also, we heard how access to 
advocacy support had now improved as a result of intervention following an in 
depth look at what the data was showing. 

Page 18



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 12 

41. The peer team thought that the Self-Neglect and Hoarding Multi-Agency 
Guidance and Procedures were an example of good practice.  The procedures 
are embedded with human rights at the heart of practice, and the way that the 
procedures seek to manage the issues of not being neglectful by overriding 
people’s rights and responsibilities but focused on how to minimise risk is the 
best that any practitioner can do.  Several people interviewed during the course 
of the review mentioned how useful they found this guidance and in some cases 
had gone to great lengths to ensure it was disseminated in their organisations; 
the team were told for example that referrals about self-neglect from the Fire 
Service had increased by 40% as a result of awareness raising on the 
procedure. 

42. The Safeguarding Practitioners Forum is an asset.  Staff speak very highly of it 
and those who attend understood the work of the Board and helped to 
disseminate it’s work.  The forum also provides advice on how safeguarding can 
be improved with the benefit of the people who deliver services experience on 
the ground.  Forum members were aware of the recommendations from SARs 
and took their role as representatives of the forum to ensure that these were 
implemented in the workplace.  Members see a direct link to Board and see the 
change that is recommended and implemented following their reports. 

43. There are opportunities in the five multidisciplinary groups (MDG) that are 
valued and useful.  Several people described how useful the MDG meetings are 
in terms of sharing information and concerns and checking out practice issues 
with colleagues from other disciplines.  

44. Team members welcome the opportunity to share a workspace with a multi-
disciplinary team and find sharing knowledge and intelligence a huge benefit 
that works extremely well.  Teams adapt their way of working to fit with their 
clientele so each area will differ and provide a more tailor-made service. 

45. The peer challenge team identified that the performance dashboard is focused 
on ASC data, this was also fed back to the peer team in interviews.  It would 
benefit from being a dashboard that collates partner information and intelligence 
to escalate it to a system-wide dashboard.  We are unclear on what assurances 
the current dashboard gives the SSAB on the whole systems and its partners.  
We feel it could be enhanced if it included health and police data as well as soft 
intelligence from other agencies such as housing.  The performance sub group 
has members from different partners and the information needed to improve the 
dashboard could be provided by these representatives.    

46. Following discussions with several people about the current performance 
dashboard there appear to be some issues around police investigation 
timescales.  This seems to be causing some concerns to partners.  It may well 
be that this is appropriate, and delays are occurring because of investigations 
into criminal activity which do take time.  However, this could an area that would 
benefit further scrutiny and potentially adding to the current dashboard for 
further performance management.  The peer team have been made aware that 
police partners have engaged positively with the Board regarding this issue and 
will be attending future Board meetings to listen and respond to concerns. 

47. Reflecting the experiences of people in your training would strengthen its impact 
enormously.  The case studies that are provided to Board could be adapted and 

Page 19



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 13 

used in training sessions, the use of real stories makes training far more 
valuable and memorable. 

48. SARs could be strengthened particularly in how you disseminate lessons 
learned from both local and national SARs.  The peer team felt that the 
consistent communication of lessons learned would add to the continual cycle of 
improvement.  Involving training officers in this process would ensure that 
lessons learned are captured in training at all levels. 

49. The peer team were curious about where the overview of serious incidents 
occurred for the SSAB?  Was there triangulation of data, and were the systems 
of serious incidents and safeguarding being managed correctly? 

  

Page 20



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 14 

Working Together 
 

Strengths 

• Evidence of system learning for all partners, e.g. fire 
• Multi-disciplinary group meeting seems to provide good support for 

professionals 
• CCG safeguarding team seen as invaluable 
• Each GP practice has a safeguarding lead 
• Strong partnership involvement at all sub-groups 
• Supportive role for care homes/providers to improve standards and quality is 

excellent practice 
• Inter-board protocol – ongoing developments 

 
Areas for Consideration  
 

• Are all Board members held to account?  There is an opportunity through 
partners contribution to your annual report to challenge each other  

• It feels like a single organisation, however the same language is used to 
describe different things. There is potential for lack of clarity. 

• How well are the priorities of the Board known at all levels? 
• More to be done on prevention 
• There is a need to pay attention to ensuring that the place-based work keeps 

directly relevant to the people you support. 
• Absence of evidence for the management of risk 
• Are all partners as engaged as they should be? 
• Different IT systems not talking to each other / unable to access them. 

 
50. There is an evidence of system learning for all partners.  The area has had two 

fatalities due to fire.  It was very impressive that from that very sad occurrence 
that a lot more work has been done to identify similar people that might be at 
risk.  The system has identified 160 people who fall into the four identified 
shared risk characteristics to be exact.  The level of detail involved in identifying 
those people at risk with the level of insight and knowledge that SSAB possess 
is incredibly good.   
 

51. The multi-disciplinary group meetings at locality level seems to provide good 
support for professional people who benefit greatly from sharing issues and/or 
concerns and gaining feedback from each other.  They are well attended and 
appreciated. 

 
52. The CCG Safeguarding Team were very highly thought of for their open-door 

approach, they were seen as easily accessible and their expertise and 
knowledge appreciated by practitioners.  

 

53. In line with the Salford standard, each GP practice has a GP as the practice 
lead for safeguarding, this shows commitment at the highest level, these GP’s 
meet bi-monthly and take the responsibility to disseminate any learning in their 
own practices. 

 
54. The peer team had a real sense that there was partnership involvement in the 

majority of sub groups.  Each sub-group appears well attended and each 

Page 21



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 15 

partner is contributing to the delivery of its work programme.  Many examples 
were given such as enhancing the service user voice, improving the language 
and branding used in safeguarding literature through the community and 
voluntary sector and strengthening the use of making safeguarding personal at 
front line.  However, it was noted that membership of the Impact and 
Improvement Network could benefit from attendance from the Fire Service 
particularly given the recent learning from the recent fire incidents. 

 
55. The level of support provided to care home providers to improve standards was 

impressive.  The role has moved from “monitoring” providers to “supporting 
them by the full range of professionals who worked with them.  The 
professionals ranged from safeguarding officers, pharmacy colleagues to CQC 
to contract officers.  By establishing the wide range of professionals who were 
involved independently in working with care homes, a core group of 
professionals began to work collaboratively to share intelligence.  The resulting 
network, the Quality Improvement Network (QIN) began to raise standards in 
homes and improve communication between professionals.  The resulting 
performance improvement of care homes saw Salford rise from 150 out of 151 
in the CQC rating rankings to 85 out of 150 since 2017.  The trajectory is on the 
upward trend and the approach is worth sharing regionally and nationally.  The 
peer challenge team found this to be a fantastic example of how once Salford 
identify a problem, they mobilise all partners to sort it out for the benefit of the 
people they serve.     

 
56. The Inter Board protocol would make a great difference once fully operational in 

terms of cross Board working towards a safer Salford – the team heard how the 
Board managers are now meeting regularly to ensure a shared understanding 
of each Board’s priorities and agendas and are working fairly closely together. 
One suggestion which could potentially improve inter-Board working was that 
the Children’s and Adult’s business units could be co-located. 

 
57. Working together the Board managers and chairs will influence agenda setting 

across the three boards and ensure that key issues are shared and possibly join 
boards together for certain issues to avoid duplication.  Many key partnership 
representatives will attend more than one board and will benefit from shared 
agendas.  The Inter Board Protocol will also allow training agendas to be shared 
to ensure a more collaborative training package and possible save money and 
again avoid duplication.   

 
58. Although partners feel valued and included, are all Board members held to 

account?  There is an opportunity for each organisation to carry out an audit 
which is fed into the annual report.  This could be used as a broader challenge 
session for each partner to identify what is happening in each organisation and 
ramp up the degree of challenge to ensure rigour in the system. 

 
59. While SSAB is operating well in a single system, it was noticed that there were 

examples of the same language being used to describe different things.  For 
example, “risk” for health professionals could relate to infection control, whereas 
to social care professionals it could mean that a person’s behaviour potentially 
puts them “at risk” equally best interests also has very different meanings 
dependent on context.  As a professional clinician etc it could be my opinion that 
it is in your best interest to follow the advice that I am giving, however under the 

Page 22



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 16 

Mental Capacity Act there is clearly a legal decision to act in someone’s best 
interest when they have been assessed as lacking capacity.  

 
60. Clearly there is opportunity to understand and challenge these differences with 

a strong integrated setting further removing the different cultural understand and 
backgrounds that the partners each bring.  

 
61. The Board have developed a strategic plan and this could be shared across the 

partnership and disseminated to all levels of staff including, this will increase 
awareness of the board and it priorities for the next 3 years. 

 

62. Various partners spoke of the need to do more on prevention.  There currently is 
no prevention strategy in Salford, therefore how is the Board assured that there 
is effective preventative safeguarding practices across all partnerships?  This 
should include individuals, professionals and agencies working together to 
recognise the potential for, and to prevent, harm.  The peer team would ask the 
SSAB, how are you managing to get prevention embedded into the work of the 
Board?  How are you assuring yourselves?  Are the referrals appropriate? How 
are you keeping people safe without that wider prevention strategy? 

 
63. The peer team noted that Salford has the 2nd highest Prevent referrals in 

Greater Manchester (with most being for adults).  Effective multi-agency 
partnership working is essential for the successful delivery of the Prevent Duty.  
The Board along with the Safeguarding Children’s Partnership has held joint 
sessions on Prevent to ensure that board members have oversight of the local 
risks and are aware of their responsibilities.  Health, along with the Police and 
the Local Authority are represented on the Channel Pannel.  However the Board 
may wish to consider what further work could be done to provide assurance on 
the safety of its local population and  organisations compliance to nationally 
reported training figures (figures reported quarterly)? 

 

64. The ICO delivers care across a large footprint.  The work of the Board should 
ensure that the balance is right and to pay attention that the place based work 
keeps directly relevant to the people the ICO supports.  Organisations can fall 
into the trap of wanting to deliver a standardised approach to communities, but 
what is very important is to be mindful of the place based work you are 
delivering which is specific to Salford’s five neighbourhoods and not losing that 
in a broader structure. 

 
65. The peer team were concerned about the appetite and management for risk.  It 

was not fully evident that that there was a process for colleagues to come 
together to consider risk in a managed way.  As organisations we are beginning 
to work in different ways and asking people to avoid using traditional care 
services.  Further consideration needs to be given for the appetite of risk.  For 
example, acute hospitals may be considering risk for pressure ulcers or 
infections, but there are risks associated with people living independently at 
home, and how is Salford managing that process?  In trying to do this, does the 
ICO have the right structures and protocols in place that could help that 
process?  For example, if people are at risk at falling, organisations may admit 
them to a care home.  However, people are seven times more likely to fall in a 
care home’s unfamiliar setting than at home.  Organisations doing this are 
shifting risk, rather than managing it.  The ICO should be mindful of that given 

Page 23



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 17 

the complexity and size of the organisation.  Consideration should be given to 
how the ICO support staff and people to be empowered. 

 

66. Are all partners as engaged as they could be?  Mental health services work 
remotely and there was some evidence to suggest that messages, protocols 
etc. from the SSAB were not fully understood or known outside the ICO.  Some 
frontline staff felt disengaged and isolated.  The peer team understand that the 
SSAB and ICO colleagues are aware of this and are working towards integration 
of the whole system.  The practitioner’s forum would be an ideal place to include 
mental health colleagues and all efforts should be made to ensure 
representation is made available.  The Board should be assured that all 
partners are invested in safeguarding and working together as well as feeling 
part of the Salford story. 

 
67. An integrated system such as Salford’s suffers from a range of IT systems that 

cannot be accessed by all colleagues.  Improving the access to different 
systems for frontline staff would improve their work practices, make them feel 
they are trusted and diminish the frustration they currently feel.   

  

Page 24



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 18 

 

Case File Audit 
 

68. The service record analysis process completed in this adult social care peer 
challenge follows the methodology outlined in the LGA Guidance Manual for Adult 
Safeguarding Peer Challenges.  The records considered represented a mix of 
ages and include adults with mental health problems, people with learning and 
physical disabilities.  
 

69. A total of twenty-eight case records were made available to the peer challenge 
team, of which fourteen were randomly selected, two from each category. In terms 
of context, this selection equates to a sample of circa 0.8% of the referrals 
received by the team each year.  The feedback given here is based on the files 
that the peer challenge team have read and seen, which contributed to the overall 
conclusion that the service demonstrated very high standards and was protecting 
vulnerable people and keeping them safe. 

Strengths 

• Comprehensive forms which provide the ‘story’ and key timescales 

• Details of service users’ views and outcomes  being sought  

• Some very good joint working particularly with the police and fire service 

• Purposeful and persistent social work practice – ensuring rigour in the 
process 

• Recording is factual  

• People were being asked their views and these were being responded to 
sensitively and with impact  

• Generally very good in respect of timescales 

Areas for Consideration 

• Purpose of, scrutiny over, and quality assurance of provider enquiries which   
have recently been piloted  

• At times, perhaps a lack of clarity around interface between (hospital) Adult 
Safeguarding Team and adult social care, in respect of roles and 
responsibilities, which impacts on timescales in some cases seen. 

• Inconsistent use of language – pre and post Care Act – is evident in 
recordings  i.e. investigation/enquiry, use of ‘strategy meetings’ and ‘case 
conferences’ instead of ‘planning meetings’ and ‘outcome meetings’ 

• Evidencing the application of MCA could be improved  
• Consider making the impact of decision making more evident within the 

recording process 
 

70. The case file audit was carried out prior to the onsite visit by the peer team.  The 
analysis was carried out by two of the members of the peer team who were 
provided with fourteen case files which had been randomly selected using the 
criteria set out in the peer review safeguarding peer challenge guidance 
manual.  These included a good mix of different client groups and scenarios (ie 
people living at home, in care homes etc 
 

71. Although comprehensive, the paperwork at times is repetitive and staff 
interviewed subsequently during the review, often said they found it very 

Page 25



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 19 

onerous.  It would be helpful perhaps for the paperwork, including the terms 
used to be reviewed, particularly in the light of MSP. 

 
72. People were asked about their outcomes however, and it was clear throughout, 

that they, or their representative were consulted and involved.  However, greater 
clarity around mental capacity and evidence of adherence to the principles of 
the Mental Capacity Act would further improve the process. 

 
73. There was some excellent evidence of multi-agency working, but in at least one 

case, some confusion evident between roles and responsibilities of nursing and 
social care staff. 

 
74. It would be helpful to ensure that there is a robust process put in place in terms 

of quality assuring provider-led enquiries. 
 

75. There is no doubt that SSAB really is a well-run, well-resourced Board.  The 
question is how can the shift be made from being a Board where change and 
innovation is driven so that it ultimately means that people are happier and safer 
in their homes.  You have made an excellent start and have the building blocks 
in place, it’s a matter now of enhancing the work that you do 

 
  

Page 26



 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 20 

Adult Safeguarding resources 
 

1. LGA Adult Safeguarding resources web page 

2.  
http://www.local.gov.uk/web/guest/search/-/journal_content/56/10180/3877757/ARTICLE 

 

3. Safeguarding Adults Board resources including the Independent Chairs 
Network, Governance arrangements of SABs and a framework to support 
improving effectiveness of SABs 

http://www.local.gov.uk/web/guest/search/-/journal_content/56/10180/5650175/ARTICLE 

 

4. LGA Adult Safeguarding Knowledge Hub Community of Practice – 
contains relevant documents and discussion threads 

https://knowledgehub.local.gov.uk/home 

 

5. LGA Report on Learning from Adult Safeguarding Peer Challenge 
http://www.local.gov.uk/web/guest/search/-/journal_content/56/10180/4036117/ARTICLE 

 

6. Making links between adult safeguarding and domestic abuse 
http://www.local.gov.uk/web/guest/search/-/journal_content/56/10180/3973526/ARTICLE 

 

7. Making Safeguarding Personal Guide 2014 – the guide is intended to 
support councils and their partners to develop outcomes-focused, person-
centred safeguarding practice. 

http://www.local.gov.uk/web/guest/publications/-/journal_content/56/10180/6098641/PUBLICATION 

 

8. Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE) website pages on safeguarding. 

http://www.scie.org.uk/adults/safeguarding/index.asp 
 
 

9. Adult Safeguarding Improvement Tool 
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/6869714/Adult+safeguarding+improvement+tool.

pdf/dd2f25ff-8532-41c1-85ed-b0bcbb2c9cfa 

 
 
  

Page 27

http://www.local.gov.uk/web/guest/search/-/journal_content/56/10180/3877757/ARTICLE
http://www.local.gov.uk/web/guest/search/-/journal_content/56/10180/5650175/ARTICLE
https://knowledgehub.local.gov.uk/home
http://www.local.gov.uk/web/guest/search/-/journal_content/56/10180/4036117/ARTICLE
http://www.local.gov.uk/web/guest/search/-/journal_content/56/10180/3973526/ARTICLE
http://www.local.gov.uk/web/guest/publications/-/journal_content/56/10180/6098641/PUBLICATION
http://www.scie.org.uk/adults/safeguarding/index.asp
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/6869714/Adult+safeguarding+improvement+tool.pdf/dd2f25ff-8532-41c1-85ed-b0bcbb2c9cfa
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/6869714/Adult+safeguarding+improvement+tool.pdf/dd2f25ff-8532-41c1-85ed-b0bcbb2c9cfa


 

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board.  Safeguarding Adults Peer Challenge Report 21 

 

Contact details 

For more information about the Adult Safeguarding Peer Challenge please contact: 
 

Venita Kanwar 
LGA Associate 
Email: venita.kanwar@yahoo.co.uk  
Tel: 07865999508 

 
 

Page 28

mailto:venita.kanwar@yahoo.co.uk


 

1 
 

Appendix 1 – Standards for Adult Safeguarding Improvement Tool,  March 2015 

Overview 
There are four key themes for the standards, with a number of sub-headings as follows: 
 

Themes Outcomes for, and the 
experiences of, people 
who use services  

Leadership, Strategy 
and Working Together  

Commissioning, Service 
Delivery and  Effective 
Practice 

Performance and 
Resource Management 

Elements 1. Outcomes   
 
2. People’s experiences 
of safeguarding  
 
 
 
This theme looks at what 
difference to outcomes for 
people there has been in 
relation to Adult 
Safeguarding and the 
quality of experience of 
people who have used the 
services provided  

3 Collective Leadership  
 
4.Strategy  
 
5 Local Safeguarding 
Board 
 
This theme looks at: 

 the overall vision for 
Adult Safeguarding 

 the strategy that is 
used to achieve that 
vision 

 how this is led  

 the role and 
performance of the 
Local Safeguarding 
Board 

 how all partners work 
together to ensure 
high quality services 
and outcomes 

 

6. Commissioning  
 
7. Service Delivery and 
effective practice  
 
 
 
This theme looks the role 
of commissioning in 
shaping services, and the 
effectiveness of service 
delivery and practice in 
securing better outcomes 
for people  

8. Performance and 
resource management  
 
 
 
 
 
This theme looks at how 
the performance and 
resources of the service, 
including its people, are 
managed 

 

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Refreshing Salford’s 

Locality Plan 

Health and Well being 

Board update –  

Sept 2019 

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 8



Launched in April 2016, it; 

• explains how we’ll build on what is already in 
place so services work better and cost less 

• gives local people have a bigger role in looking 
after their own health 

• looks at how people’s lives in Salford can change 
for the better if we have better housing, more 
jobs, more money and a nicer environment to live 
in 

What is the Salford 

Locality Plan?  

P
age 32



The five year 

ambition? 
• Joined up health and social care services 

• More health services nearer to home  

• Hospitals with specialisms 

• Better quality housing and good job 
opportunities  

• Better health outcomes 

• Reduction in health inequalities 

P
age 33



What we have 

achieved so far? 
• Children in poverty 

• Alcohol related admissions 

• Employment rates 

• Life expectancy at birth 

• Reduction in number of smokers 

 

 

 

P
age 34



Why do we need a 

refresh? 
• Ensure alignment with all new national, regional 

and local strategies / plans and priorities 

• Monitor and review progress to date  

• Review our approach and overall objectives 

• Move towards more prevention 

P
age 35



How will the refresh 

be done? 
• Robust data analysis of outcomes / achievements 

• Analysing lessons learnt 

• Extensive programme of public and stakeholder 
engagement to provide insight and approval 

• Co-production session with Health and Wellbeing 
Board members 

P
age 36



National and  GM 

timescales 
• National timescales to produce the Greater Manchester 

implementation plan at system level are: 

– 27th September - initial system planning submission;  

– 15th November - system plans agreed with regions. 

• Over the next few months GM will need to develop:  

– 10 refreshed Locality Plans - with a target for 
completion by the end of November;  

– Locality returns on finance and activity - exact 
timetable to be confirmed once national templates 
released;  

– Returns from GM leads that cover the areas of the 
Long Term Implementation Framework.  

• All of this content will contribute to an overarching Greater 
Manchester Implementation Plan for the Prospectus - 
including how Greater Manchester will deliver on the 
requirements of the NHS Long Term Plan.  

 

 

The key actions over the next few months are:  

P
age 37



What have we done 

so far? 
• Coordination group established, project timeline (task and finish) 

• Engagement – Citizens panel, online survey, Healthwatch, co-production workshop, City 
Leaders 

• Data - Collating evidence of progress / outcomes since last plan and new / emerging 
trends for consideration 

• Benchmarking – Right Care support offer 

• Draft plan in progress.  Localities are asked to: 

– Reaffirm the outcomes they are seeking to influence; 

– Describe progress against those outcomes since 2016; 

– Outline plans for the local system – in terms of integrated neighbourhood delivery 
and place-based commissioning – particularly in the context of the Prospectus’s core 
aim of creating a population health system in Greater Manchester and the approach 
to public service reform set out in the White Paper. 

 

P
age 38



 

 1 

 
 

Item no.  

 
Salford Health and Wellbeing Board 

 

Title of report Co-production 

Date 10 September, 2019 

Contact 
Officer 

Chris Dabbs (Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce / Unlimited 
Potential) 

 

1.  Executive Summary 

 

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board? - Relevance of this report to the 
priorities of the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment or integrated working 

 The Locality Plan for Salford has a 
focus on “expanding co-production”, 
commits to “explor[ing] and us[ing] co-
production”, and has as a 
transformation priority “to include a 
focus on collaboration and co-
production.” 

Health and Wellbeing Board’s duties or 
responsibilities in this area 

 Delivery of the Locality Plan. 

 One stated purpose of the Board is “to 
empower people to improve their own 
quality of life, improve the long-term 
health of communities and promote 
individual responsibility and behaviour 
change.” 

 One principle/value of the Board is to 
“work in partnership with our local 
communities … to improve the health 
and well-being of people in Salford.” 

Key questions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address - what action 
is needed from the Board and its 
members? 

1. Incorporate co-production with citizens 
and communities (including children and 
young people) within the refreshed 
Locality Plan for Salford. 

2. Actively incorporate co-production with 
citizens and communities into each of 
the Board’s priority areas for 2019-2020 
and 2020-2021, including major themes 
around determinants of health and well-
being. 

3. Identify a lead at executive level with 
responsibility for co-production across 
the health and well-being system in 
Salford. 

4. Consider the establishment of a time-
limited task and finish group to produce 
specific proposals for the practical 

Page 39

Agenda Item 9



 

 2 

development, spread and monitoring of 
co-production with citizens and 
communities in Salford, including in the 
operation of the Board itself, in 
demonstrable commitment from senior 
leaders, and in practical opportunities 
(such as in innovation). 

5. Each Board member should consider 
and then report back on co-production 
with citizens and communities by their 
organisation, how it could be spread, 
and how they will champion it in 
practice. 

6. Request a report to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board on progress with co-
production once a year. 

What requirement is there for internal or 
external communication around this 
issue? 

To co-produce communications with 
citizens and communities about co-
production and its impact. 

  

Page 40



 

 3 

2. Introduction  

 
2.1 Co-production – definition and purpose 
 
Putting citizens and communities at the heart of health and well-being involves 
valuing their role in them, including through co-production. 
 
The Locality Plan for Salford defines co-production: “Co-production is about 
combining our mutual strengths and capacities so that we can work with one another 
on an equal basis to achieve positive change.” [page 16] 
 
It continues that: “Co-production is a term that refers to a way of working whereby 
decision-makers and citizens, or service providers and users, work together to create 
a decision or a service which works for them all. The approach is value-driven and 
built on the principle that those who are affected by a service are best placed to help 
design it.” [page 59] 
 
To overcome the challenges that people face, we need citizens and professionals to 
work together. Through working together, we can use all the expertise available and 
produce better solutions. The more people that have been involved in making the 
solutions, the more people will believe and trust in the solutions. 
 
Solutions through co-production will sometimes not be new or improved services, but 
non-service solutions that can save the public sector money in the long term. 
 
Co-production is not the same as the consultation or involvement of local people, or 
co-design between organisations, although these have their place. Nor is it about 
public services outsourcing their responsibilities. 
 
Co-production is about relationships, recognising the value that citizens and 
communities bring, alongside professionals and, crucially, sharing power equitably. 
 
Co-production is a mind set or culture. As a process, it is ongoing and often 
necessarily ‘messy’ by providing space for innovation and enhancing learning. 
 
Working well together takes time, energy and commitment, but the results are worth 
it. We need to include everyone’s voice if we truly want to overcome the challenges 
of disadvantage, inequality and ill-health. 
 
2.2 Locality Plan for Salford 
 
The Locality Plan states that it has a focus on “expanding co-production, 
personalisation and social action in communities”. [page 18] 
 
On co-production and social value, the Locality Plan cites the aim as being “to work 
collaboratively with VCSE [voluntary, community and social enterprise] and other 
local providers to maximise reach, outcomes and impact beyond statutory provision.” 
[page 59] 
 
In the Locality Plan, a commitment is made that: “We will explore and use co-
production approaches where these can bring demonstrable results and 

Page 41



 

 4 

improvements, including participatory appraisal and budgeting, deliberative opinion 
polls, citizens' juries, open space and time banking.” [pages 59-60] 
 
One transformation priority stated for 2016-2021 is “to include a focus on 
collaboration and co-production.” [page 61] 
 
2.3 Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
At a development session on 11 December, 2018, the Board identified as an 
achievement a greater emphasis on listening to the voices of local people. 
 
There was also acknowledgement that the Board should focus on citizens and 
communities and not on systems and processes. Some members felt that the 
Greater Manchester public service reform model is too prescriptive and process 
focused. It also has insufficient emphasis on the voluntary, community and social 
enterprise (VCSE) sector, community voices and community assets. 
 
It was agreed to ‘Salfordise’ the Greater Manchester public service reform principles 
and make it work locally, encompassing the importance of both the integrated place 
agenda and co-production with communities. 
 
It was recognised that this is an important piece of work that requires input from 
stakeholders and wider leadership to progress. 
 
The Board grasped the challenge and held a development session specifically on co-
production on 19 July, 2019. The ideas emerging from this have informed this paper. 
There was a strong feeling amongst participants at the development session that the 
system needs to swiftly ‘get on’ with co-production with citizens and communities, 
while also putting things in place to create an appropriate culture for it. 
 

3. Key issues for the Board to consider 

 
3.1 Principles of co-production 
 
Through the Elephants co-production project in Greater Manchester, with citizens 
with lived experience of severe and multiple disadvantage, these six principles for co-
production emerged as the key ideas and rules for working together: 
 
1. Strengths: 

 Everybody has strengths and weaknesses. 

 Everyone has skills, knowledge, experience and other qualities to offer. 

 Everyone is needed to produce solutions that work. 
 
2. Power 

 It is difficult for either citizens or professionals to challenge how things are 
alone. 

 All types of power must be shared. 

 Leadership, support and resources must come from everyone involved. 

 Unequal power needs to be recognised and addressed. 
 
3. Relationships 

Page 42

https://lankellychase.org.uk/project-summary/manchester/


 

 5 

 Good relationships are crucial for working together. 

 Positive relationships require time, respect and trust. 

 Everyone needs to feel safe, valued and wanted. 

 The process must feel fair, open and honest to everyone. 
 
4. Diversity 

 Diversity of people is important for high quality thinking. 

 The process of working together and the language must make sense to 
everyone involved. 

 Inequalities must be identified and talked about. These might link to age, 
class, disability, education, race, religion, sex or sexual orientation. 

 
5. Knowledge 

 There are different ways of ‘knowing things’ and all of them are valuable. 

 First-hand experience is as valuable as professional or academic knowledge. 

 Knowledge of what does or does not work in the real world must be 
recognised and valued. 

 
6. Testing 

 Finding ways to reduce disadvantage is difficult and complicated. 

 It is important to test new ideas early on and continue to test them. 

 There is no failure. If things don’t work out as expected make time to learn 
from this and change what you do. 

 
3.2 Co-production in practice 
 
There is a growing level of understanding around what is good co-production looks 
and feels like and the principles that underpin it. Our further comprehension of this 
and a proactive approach to co-production are critical if we are to use it in a 
transformative way. 
 
Practical application is the best way for us to learn more about co-production. It is 
most likely to be useful in fields in which citizens and communities have ongoing or 
deep experience and strong interest, such as long-term conditions, health and well-
being (including their determinants), and where there are critical ‘wicked’ problems 
for which more traditional approaches have been or are likely to be ineffective. One 
perspective is about enhancing understanding of ‘starting well’, ‘living well’ and 
‘ageing well’, were they to be fully co-produced with citizens and communities so as 
to be most meaningful to them. 
 
A good example of co-production that involved several agencies represented on 
Salford Health and Wellbeing Board was Salford Poverty Truth Commission. 
Launched in July 2016, the Poverty Truth Commission consisted of 15 people with 
personal experience of poverty and 15 people in business or public life, whose 
positions might enable them to help make changes happen. The Poverty Truth 
Commission achieved much, listening to the voice and strong evidence of those with 
first-hand experience and, for example, working closely with Salford City Council to 
influence key parts of the Tackling Poverty Strategy and altering the way the local 
authority speaks with, writes to and meets with residents, such as on issues around 
debt. 
 
  

Page 43

https://www.councils.coop/case-studies/salford-poverty-truth-commission/


 

 6 

3.3 Progress and barriers 
 
Co-production with residents of Salford now features in a number of design activities. 
However, despite successful examples across the city and across Greater 
Manchester, the approach is far from being mainstream, with many barriers to 
citizens and professionals truly sharing decisions about how solutions are designed, 
delivered and evaluated. This particularly holds true for co-production involving those 
who have experienced severe and multiple disadvantage. There is now an 
opportunity to translate this commitment into practice. 
 
Co-production alone will not help us achieve our ambitions, but if done well it can 
play a role. While the evidence is still emerging around the impact that effective co-
production has on addressing some of our biggest challenges, there is a growing 
recognition that citizens and communities should have a more active and central role 
in helping to achieve solutions - and that these solutions may not be service-specific. 
 
It will be important to collect together existing examples of effective co-production 
with citizens and communities in Salford. 
 
It is also important to recognise that co-production cannot be outsourced. To be 
effective, co-production requires a culture shift and sharing of power in order to work 
alongside citizens and communities. This may challenge organisations in all sectors, 
and raise questions about existing arrangements for governance and accountability. 
 
3.4 Next steps 
 
While the health and well-being system will at times find developing effective co-
production with citizens and communities challenging (not least in changing cultures 
and mind sets), there is a much greater risk in not doing so. Not engaging in co-
production means not benefitting from local people’s knowledge and expertise, and 
creating less effective solutions in which they find less relevance, meaning and belief. 
 
The development of co-production would evolve over time. As we are still at a very 
early stage of this process, it might be perceived both as an innovation in its own 
right, as well as being a means to innovation. 
 
A challenge now is how Salford develops the mechanisms to draw together, build on 
and utilise the learning from past and current work on co-production. There is a 
chance to build on the principles of co-production and to work towards a common set 
of co-production standards that both citizens and organisations can recognise. 
 
There is a genuine opportunity to develop a community of practice around co-
production through drawing insights from those involved in co-production in Salford 
and elsewhere in Greater Manchester, participation in existing projects and through 
the unique access to practice led and international research provided by 
developments in Greater Manchester such as the Elephants project, Jam and 
Justice, and Realising Just Cities. 
 
To do this, however, requires a level of co-ordination and genuine commitment to 
participate. The endorsement of Salford Health and Wellbeing Board will help to 
make this a reality, especially if the Board’s own operation embraces co-production. 
 

Page 44

https://lankellychase.org.uk/project-summary/manchester/
https://jamandjustice-rjc.org/
https://jamandjustice-rjc.org/
https://realisingjustcities-rjc.org/our-projects/greater-manchester


 

 7 

3.5 Key actions 
 
Key actions that can be made to develop and embed co-production include: 
 
What – vision and purpose: 

 Embed co-production into mainstream local strategies and programmes, and 
ensure governance and accountability structures reinforce this agenda. 

 Develop new and deeper forms of engagement between the formal health and 
well-being system and citizens, starting with tested models of co-production. 

 
Who – involving everyone: 

 Support local networks to co-produce with citizens, build capacity to work in 
genuinely relationship-centred ways, and collaborate across professional 
boundaries. 

 Focus on those who stand to gain the most, such as people who are least 
engaged with formal services and people with lived experience of severe and 
multiple disadvantage. 

 Recognise unpaid carers, volunteers and the VCSE workforce as essential parts 
of the wider health and well-being workforce. 

 
How – making it happen: 

 Commission in ways that encourage and support co-production and co-produced 
solutions. 

 Implement approaches in ways that increase knowledge about ‘what works’, such 
as experimentation that enables learning by doing through co-production. 

 

4.  Recommendations for action 

 
1. Incorporate co-production with citizens and communities (including children and 

young people) within the refreshed Locality Plan for Salford. 
 

2. Actively incorporate co-production with citizens and communities into each of the 
Board’s priority areas for 2019-2020 and 2020-2021, including major themes 
around determinants of health and well-being. 
 

3. Identify a lead at executive level with responsibility for co-production across the 
health and well-being system in Salford. 
 

4. Consider the establishment of a time-limited task and finish group to produce 
specific proposals for the practical development, spread and monitoring of co-
production with citizens and communities in Salford, including in the operation of 
the Board itself, in demonstrable commitment from senior leaders, and in 
practical opportunities (such as in innovation). 
 

5. Each Board member should consider and then report back on co-production with 
citizens and communities by their organisation, how it could be spread, and how 
they will champion it in practice. 
 

6. Request a report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on progress with co-
production once a year. 

 

Page 45



 

 8 

5.  Contextual information 

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

 Locality Plan for Salford (2016-2021) - 
https://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/transformation/locality-plan 

 Centre for Local Economic Strategies (2017) Working Together to Tackle 
Disadvantage [Elephants project, Greater Manchester] 

 Nesta / Health Foundation (2016) Realising the Value. Ten key actions to put 
people and communities at the heart of health and wellbeing - 
https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/realising-the-value-ten-actions-to-put-people-and-
communities-at-the-heart-of-health-and-wellbeing/ 

 
 
STRATEGIC DRIVERS AND EVIDENCE OF NEED: 
 
The Locality Plan for Salford states: 

 It has a focus on “expanding co-production, personalisation and social action in 
communities”. [page 18] 

 The aim on co-production and social value is “to work collaboratively with VCSE 
[voluntary, community and social enterprise] and other local providers to maximise 
reach, outcomes and impact beyond statutory provision.” [page 59] 

 “We will explore and use co-production approaches where these can bring 
demonstrable results and improvements, including participatory appraisal and 
budgeting, deliberative opinion polls, citizens' juries, open space and time 
banking.” [pages 59-60] 

 A transformation priority is “to include a focus on collaboration and co-production.” 
[page 61] 

 
 
THIS REPORT CONTENT HAS ALSO BEEN CONSIDERED BY: None to date. 

 
 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: None to date. 

 
 
ASSESSMENT OF RISK: None to date. 

 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: None. 

 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: There may be resourcing issues to enable co-
production to take place, especially in recognising the skills, knowledge and 
experience of citizens in their contributions through co-production. 

 
 
PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: None to date. 

 
 
HR IMPLICATIONS: Recognition of unpaid carers, volunteers and the VCSE 
workforce as essential parts of the wider health and well-being workforce, including in 
all workforce development planning. 

Page 46

https://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/transformation/locality-plan
https://lankellychase.org.uk/project-summary/manchester/
https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/realising-the-value-ten-actions-to-put-people-and-communities-at-the-heart-of-health-and-wellbeing/
https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/realising-the-value-ten-actions-to-put-people-and-communities-at-the-heart-of-health-and-wellbeing/


1

Item no.

Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of report Outline for the refreshed Locality Plan
Date 10.09.2019
Contact Officer Dr Peter Brambleby

1.     Executive Summary

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board? - Relevance of this report to 
the priorities of the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment or integrated 
working

To agree the proposed structure of the refreshed 
Plan and the process  and timetable for its 
completion

Health and Wellbeing Board’s duties 
or responsibilities in this area

This is a requirement of all Localities in Greater 
Manchester

Key questions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address - what 
action is needed from the Board and 
its members?

To discuss, amend and agree the proposed outline 
of the Locality Plan and the next steps for its 
completion and submission on time (29 November 
2019)

What requirement is there for internal 
or external communication around 
this issue?

Extensive sharing of the outline to date, through co-
production and guidance from GM

2.     Introduction 

This is a refresh of the Locality Plan that is a requirement of all GM Councils.  It is one of the 
statutory duties of Health and Wellbeing Boards nationally.

The Locality Plan’s primary audience is the population of Salford, with messages for commissioners 
and providers of care, and all involved in shaping health and wellbeing for individuals and 
communities.

It has been developed under the principles of “co-production” with extensive early input from public 
consultation.  There is a renewed and expanded focus on stages of life, neighbourhoods, 
prevention, innovation and evaluation.

It is derived from a joint understanding of need (joint strategic needs assessment) and is intended to 
lead to joint and joined-up commissioning and provision of services.  It will be scrutinised by Greater 
Manager bodies and will be part of our overall assessment of performance and may assist release 
of funds for further transformation.

Page 47

Agenda Item 10



2

3.     Key issues for the Board to consider

The Board is asked to consider the structure, content, audiences and usefulness of the revised 
Locality Plan, and the process for its production

4.     Recommendations for action 

HWM members are asked to discuss, amend and approve this draft at this very early stage, 
preparatory for receipt of a more mature draft at the next meeting of HWB on 12 November 2019.

5.     Contextual information 

CONTACT OFFICERS:

Dr Peter Brambleby

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: Attached outline

STRATEGIC DRIVERS AND EVIDENCE OF NEED: Core strategic business

THIS REPORT CONTENT HAS ALSO BEEN CONSIDERED BY: Widely discussed already, 
especially public Meeting, CCG Governing Body, Salford Together, VCSE, and scheduled for lead 
member briefing and cabinet briefing, amongst others

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:  One of its principle aims is to describe 
inequalities – in causes of health need, response to health need and population level indicators of 
inequality.

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  There will be a section of chapter 4 of the Locality Plan that deals with 
risk, mitigation and governance

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Nil identified

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Minimal resource implications other than offer time and production 
costs.  Finance planning for Council and NHS respectively feature in the Locality Plan.  

Page 48



3

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Nil specific.  Greater shift to prevention, including “social 
prescribing” and related initiatives.

HR IMPLICATIONS: Nil specific, but there is a short section on workforce development

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Contents

Foreword (by Councillor Gina Reynolds and Dr Tom Tasker)

Executive summary
Why is the Locality Plan being refreshed?

Who is it for?

How did we go about it?

What are main findings and changes?

How will it be monitored, reported and kept up to date?

A footnote on transformation

1 Stages of life
1.1 General overview

1.1.1 Why “stages of life”?
1.1.2 Population trends
1.1.3 Determinants of health, wellbeing and inequality
1.1.4 Patterns of need, illness and mortality

1.2 Starting well
1.2.1 Best possible start (approximately 0-4 years)
1.2.2 Best possible development (approximately 5-18 years, and to 25 years for special needs)

1.3 Living well (approximately 19-64 years)
1.4 Ageing well 

1.4.1 Early older age (approximately 65-84 years)
1.4.2 Later older age (approximately 85+ years)

2 Neighbourhoods, communities and environment
2.1 General overview

2.1.1 Maps and explanations
2.1.2 Strengths-based approaches at local level: highlights of VCSE, SCL, HIS
2.1.3 The importance of prevention and personalisation

2.2 Eccles, Winton, Irlam and Cadishead
2.3 Walkden, Little Hulton, Worsley and Boothstown
2.4 Swinton and Pendlebury
2.5 Broughton and Irwell Riverside
2.6  Ordsell, Claremont and Pendleton

Page 51



3  Improvement and enablers
3.1 Workforce and models of care
3.2 Salford Together update
3.3 Better care, value for money and social return
3.4 Integrated care update
3.5 Digital solutions
3.5 Innovation, research and evaluation

4  Monitoring and reporting progress
4.1 Risks and mitigation
4.2 Quality improvement and control
4.3 Governance and reporting

5 “Plan on a page” summaries, strategic alignments and milestones
5.1 The City Mayor’s “great eight” priorities
5.2 The NHS long term plan priorities
5.3 Starting well – milestones
5.4 Living well – milestones
5.5 Ageing well – milestones
5.6 Neighbourhoods, communities and environment – milestones
5.7 Improvement and enablers – milestones
5.8 Summary of main commissioning intentions
5.9 Summary of main provider intentions

Appendices and links

Page 52



Foreword
To follow: Councillor Gina Reynolds and Dr Tom Tasker

Executive summary
What is this refreshed Locality Plan for?

This document is a refresh of the Locality Plan published in August 2017.  Much of the original structure 
and direction of travel remain the same but the content is new and the ambition has been raised.  

This is a plan for wellbeing, not just for illness; for strengths and not just for frailties; for opportunities 
and not just for needs.

It takes a look at progress, which is considerable, and at the remaining challenges, which are also 
considerable.  It brings a renewed emphasis on building individual and community strengths and not just 
meeting deficits, and outlines ideas for innovation, improvement and evaluation.  It anticipates 
extending the patterns and location of service delivery, with greater emphasis on prevention, personal 
involvement and care closer to home.  This means that evaluation is every bit as important as 
experimentation, and we must share the learning.

There are limits to the scope for planning such as this.  Some paths are made by walking.  To some 
degree we have to set out into the unknown, guided by values rather than certainties, but setting out 
our milestones so we share our intentions, focus our energies and reflect on progress.  To paraphrase 
Eleanor Roosevelt: 

“The past is history, yet we can learn from it; 

the future is a mystery, yet we can prepare for it; 

but today is a gift, and that is why we call it the present.”

Who is this Plan for?

First and foremost, this Plan is for the people of Salford.  Its intention is that every resident can see its 
relevance to them, to their community and to their contribution to its success. It should address each of 
the following questions which came out of the public engagement and co-production:

Will this plan be relevant to me as an individual?  Yes.  Chapter 1 covers all the stages of life, and 
in more detail than the previous version, especially at the extremes of life – birth and death – 
when people are generally at their most vulnerable.

Will this plan be relevant to where I live or the group to which I identify?  Yes.  Chapter 2 covers 
neighbourhoods and networks, and how they relate to opportunities and services at local level 
and communities of interest that span geographical boundaries.

Page 53



Will this plan show how I can make a contribution?  Yes.  Another theme that emerged strongly 
from consultation was that of focussing on strengths rather than dependencies, for individuals, 
communities and wider networks.  There is therefore a stronger emphasis on prevention and 
maintaining health and wellbeing, as well as the provision of services for those in need, drawing 
more deeply than ever on tackling the underlying causes of need and inequality, and helping 
address these at source.  This comes through in every chapter.  “Making a contribution” is one 
of the five “ways to wellbeing”.  The others are: taking notice (mindfulness), learning, 
connecting with others, and being active.  

Will this plan give a steer to providers of health and social care, education, housing and jobs?  
Yes.   Chapter 3 looks at “enablers” such as workforce, better care, integrated care, innovation, 
technology and finance.  Such providers include the NHS in all its facets; Council-provided and 
commissioned services; voluntary sector, community groups and social enterprises (VCSE); 
schools, colleges and universities; local businesses and many others.

Will this plan be of interest to policy-makers, scrutineers and regulators?  Yes.  Chapter 4 looks 
at how progress will be monitored against milestones, how risks to the Plan will be recognised 
and mitigated, how quality will be assessed, and the arrangements for overall governance.  
Chapter 5 summarises our intended milestones and our strategic alignment with national policy.

How did we go about it?

From the outset, this refresh has been a co-production.  This means the involvement, as equals, of 
members of the public, voluntary, community and social enterprises (VCSE), elected members, 
employees and managers of statutory agencies like NHS and Council, and experts from the fields of 
education and business.   

Under the auspices of the Health and Wellbeing Board a learning event was conducted on the theme of 
co-production: what it meant, who was involved and what difference it could make.  There have been 
well-attended public meetings – one in particular live-streamed on line with contributions coming in 
from those following remotely.  A large on-line survey brought in further insights.   Systematic feedback 
has been gleaned from Healthwatch over the past three years and that was fed in.  We have asked 
specific questions about values and aims, and invited ideas for innovation and improvement.  In addition 
to this ground-level local feedback we have taken note of guidance and expectations of Greater 
Manchester and its partnerships, of national policies and legislation, and published evidence of 
effectiveness from the professional and scientific literature.  

All three strands of Council activity are covered in the first three chapters respectively: People, Place and 
Service Reform.  The vision for the City Mayor’s “Great Eight” priorities are all here: tackling poverty and 
inequality; education and skills; health and social care; economic development; housing, transport; 
transparent and effective organisation and social impact.

All sectors of the NHS were consulted: primary care, community care, mental health and hospitals, with 
especially large contribution from the Clinical Commissioning Group, as is appropriate in their role as 
majority funders.  The major elements of the NHS Long Term Plan, and the priorities of Greater 
Manchester have been included.  “Commissioning” has “mission” at its heart.  Traditional perspectives 
of “payer” and “provider” no longer have the same relevance.  

Page 54



Above all, there has been space and thinking time to come up with genuinely new understanding of 
resources and value for money, including not only technical efficiency and fair distribution but also 
adding social value via our activities, not just individual outcomes for health and wellbeing.

An appendix at the end gives links to a wide range of further documents referenced in this Plan.

What are the main findings and changes?

To follow

How will the Locality Plan be monitored, reported and kept up to date?

To follow

A footnote on transformation

Change, innovation, experimentation and transformation are words that recur in this revised Locality 
Plan.  No matter how strong our wishes to cling to what is familiar and certain, change is an inevitable 
consequence of complex human endeavour. Here is a relevant poem, part of an initiative for poetry as a 
means to health and wellbeing, by Health Scrutiny member “J” Ahmed.

‘TRANSITION’

Change that’s forced upon us, or change the chosen Path;

Change, the only way to move to futures from the past.

Change, the blessing cursed; by those who can’t embrace it.

Change, the challenge that we face if we choose to make it.

Wherever whence we’re coming from, wherever forth we go;

Change is the transition that keeps the natural flow.

Some see change as an enemy, some see change as a friend,

Some see change as a consequence of inevitable ends.

To some it’s new beginnings, to others just more work –

Change is often evidence that we are alert.

For all it is and represents, change is changing you;

Revising how you see the things you would and wouldn’t do.

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 18

Salford Inter-Board Protocol
Serving and Safeguarding the People of Salford

The relationship between Salford’s ‘Core Four’ 
Partnerships:

 Safeguarding Adults Board
 Safeguarding Children Partnership
 Community Safety Partnership Board
 Health and Well-being Board

Salford 
'Core Four' 

Partnerships 

Salford 
Safeguarding 
Adults Board

Salford 
Safeguarding 

Children 
Partnership

Salford Health 
and Well-

being Board

Salford 
Community 

Safety 
Partnership 

Board

Page 57

Agenda Item 12



Page 2 of 18

Version Control:

Author Roselyn Baker Version 1 Safeguarding Inter-Board 
Protocol

Date: May/ June 
2016

Contributors Strategic Business 
Managers

Revision Chris Howl

Chris Howl

Version 3

Version 3.5

Partnership Business 
Managers

Partnership Business 
Managers/ Joint Chairs

28th March 2019

26th July 2019

File location e.g. City Partnership 
website

Signed Off Inter Board Chairs FINAL Business Managers to take 
through Board signoff 
process

6th August 2019

Version Final
August 2019

Page 58



Page 3 of 18

Contents
Page

1. Introduction..........................................................................................................................4
2. Principles .............................................................................................................................4
3. Partnership functions ...........................................................................................................5
4. Effective communication and engagement between the Partnerships ................................6
5. Practical arrangements to secure co-ordination of business ...............................................8
6. Governance arrangements ..................................................................................................9
7. Sign off and Review ...........................................................................................................10
Appendix One: Details of Core Four Boards/Partnerships ....................................................11
Appendix Two: Inter-Board Priorities .....................................................................................15
Appendix Three: Lead and Support Governance   ………………………………….………… 17

Page 59



Page 4 of 18

1. Introduction

This protocol outlines the co-operative relationship between Salford’s ‘core four’ 
partnerships, these being: Safeguarding Adults Board (SSAB), Safeguarding 
Children Partnership (SSCP), Community Safety Partnership Board (SCSPB) and 
the Health and Well-being Board (SHWB), in their joint function to ensure the safety, 
well-being and welfare of the people of Salford.

The protocol confirms for these ‘core four’ partnerships, their: 
 role and responsibility,
 accountability and governance arrangements,
 lead board responsibilities,
 scrutiny and challenge framework, and
 forward planning and reporting arrangements.

In addition to the ‘core four’ partnerships, there are other specialist multi-agency 
boards and groups that co-operate and collaborate to ensure the well-being of the 
people of Salford and for whom the principles within the policy will apply:
 0-25 Advisory Board (S025AB),
 Strategic Housing Partnership (SSHP),
 Skills and Work Board (SSWB),
 Youth Justice Board,

2. Principles

This protocol sets out the principles underpinning how the ‘core four’ partnerships 
work within their defined remits, the interface between them and the practical means 
by which effective co-ordination and coherence between them will be sustained. The 
core principles are:

 Safeguarding is the business of all partnerships.
 The partnerships will know each other’s business.
 A culture of scrutiny and challenge will exist across the 

partnerships.
 The partnerships will work together to avoid duplication and 

ensure consistency.
 At the heart of their decision making, the partnerships will remain 

focused on delivery that benefits the people and the place.
 The partnerships share a commitment to a strategic approach to 

understanding needs, including analysis of data and engagement 
with stakeholders.

 The partnerships are committed to developing a joined-up 
approach to assessing the effectiveness of services and 
identifying priorities for change, including where services need to 
be commissioned, de-commissioned, improved, reshaped or 
developed.

Page 60



Page 5 of 18

3. Partnership functions 

The statutory framework of the respective partnerships is attached at Appendix One 
and the primary functions of the respective partnerships are described here:

Safeguarding Adults Board (SSAB)
The primary focus of the work of SSAB is to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness 
of local arrangements for safeguarding for an adult who:
 has needs for care and support (whether or not the local authority is meeting 

any of those needs), and
 as a result of those care and support needs is unable to protect themselves 

from either the risk of the experience of abuse or neglect and promoting a 
personalised approach to safeguard issues.

The role of the SSAB is to ensure effective safeguarding arrangements are in place 
in both the commissioning/ de-commissioning and provision of services to adults at 
risk by individual agencies and to ensure effective interagency working in this 
respect. In this regard, the local authority has a responsibility to carry out or cause 
others to carry out an enquiry if an adult has needs for care and support; is 
experiencing, or at risk of, abuse or neglect; and as a result of those care and 
support needs is unable to protect themselves from the experience or risk of abuse. 
The SSAB is not a delivery or commissioning body but has a scrutiny and challenge 
role.

Safeguarding Children’s Partnership (SSCP)
From 1st April 2019, SSCP replaced Salford Safeguarding Children Board (SSCB).  
The Partnership vision is ‘All partners are committed to working together so that 
every child in Salford is safe, well and able to reach their full potential’.

The purpose of the local arrangements is to support and enable local organisations 
and agencies to work together in a system where: 

• children are safeguarded and their welfare promoted,
• collaborate and co-own the vision for how to achieve improved outcomes for 

vulnerable children,
• challenge appropriately and hold one another to account effectively,
• there is early identification and analysis of new safeguarding issues and 

emerging threats,
• learning is promoted and embedded in a way that local services for children 

and families can become more reflective and implement changes to practice,
• Information is shared effectively to facilitate more accurate and timely decision 

making for children and families.

Health and Well-being Board (SHWB)
The SHWB is a forum for leaders from the health and care services to work together 
to improve the health and well-being of the local population and reduce health 
inequalities. It has strategic influence over local commissioning across health, public 
health and social care through the development of the Joint Strategic Needs 

Page 61



Page 6 of 18

Assessment (JSNA) and the Locality Plan. It also has a statutory function to enable 
integration across health and care services.

Key to the role of SHWB is delivery of the Locality Plan which articulates the vision, 
for the improvement of well-being, health and care outcomes for residents in the city, 
across a timescale of short, medium and longer-term impacts. The Plan sets out 
specific programmes and objectives which are in place to deliver against that vision, 
using a life course approach (Starting Well, Living Well, and Aging Well). It also 
reflects the need to tackle the demographic, financial and clinical challenges facing 
the city.

Community Safety Partnership Board (SCSPB)
The SCSPB provides a governance structure for partners to work together to prevent 
and reduce crime, offending and substance misuse and the fear of crime in Salford, 
as laid out in the Salford Community Safety Strategy. Its key functions are to:
 promote collaborative partnership working between statutory and non-statutory 

partners,
 commission and implement a strategic assessment and partnership plan to 

reduce crime and disorder, and
 approve Domestic Homicide reviews as required.

4. Strategic Priorities and Engagement 

4.1 Vision and Strategic Priorities
Our collective vision is to ‘create a Better and Fairer Salford’, via the City Mayor’s 
‘Great Eight’ strategic priorities, with each board having their own linked priorities to 
generate improvements specific to them:

Page 62

http://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/salford-locality-plan
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/community-safety-strategy.htm


Page 7 of 18

Our respective inter-board priorities are attached in Appendix Two. 

A range of strategies and intelligence, such as the Local Plan, Affordable Housing 
Strategy, Homelessness Strategy, Poverty Strategy, State of the City Report and 
Ward and Neighbourhood profiles, provide the framework for achieving the best 
quality of life for the people of the city.

The core principle underlying this protocol is that all the partnerships are committed 
to making a real difference to the lives of Salford people and specifically that 
safeguarding is everybody’s business. As such, all strategic plans, whether 
formulated by individual agencies or by partnerships, should include safeguarding as 
a cross-cutting theme. The two Safeguarding Boards have the responsibility to 
scrutinise and challenge the other partnerships on their safeguarding arrangements.

4.2 Effective joint-working and engagement
It is essential that in drawing up strategies there is effective interchange between all 
the partnerships, including formal interfaces with the Safeguarding Boards at key 
points including:
 sharing annual needs analyses that drive the formulation of the Health and 

Well-being Strategy (Locality Plan), the Community Safety Strategy and the 
Safeguarding Boards’ Business Plans. This needs to be reciprocal in nature 
ensuring that the Safeguarding Boards’ needs analyses are fed into the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and strategic threat assessment (STA) for 
the CSP and that the outcomes of the JSNA and STA are fed back into 
Safeguarding Boards’ planning,

 annual evaluations of performance on plans to provide the opportunity for 
reciprocal scrutiny and challenge and to enable all Boards to feed any 
improvement and development needs into the planning process for future 
years’ strategies and plans.

To achieve this, the Chairs of the respective partnerships will:
 agree a shared Forward Look to streamline business and reduce unnecessary 

duplication or overlap of business,
 agree lead/ supporting partnerships for specific areas, as identified in Appendix 

Three of this protocol,
 share needs analyses that drive the formulation of business plans and 

strategies,
 share annual evaluations of performance on plans to provide the opportunity for 

reciprocal scrutiny and challenge and to enable all partnerships to feed any 
improvement and development needs into the planning process for future 
years’ strategies and plans,

 develop joint development sessions and communication for shared priority 
issues,

 review governance arrangements at the highest level and streamline business 
at all levels, and

 meet regularly to further develop business arrangements.

This approach will enable the respective partnerships to understand their core 
responsibilities and identify lead partnerships for thematic areas of responsibility. It 

Page 63



Page 8 of 18

will also provide the platform for a rational overview of sub-groups that sit beneath 
the strategic partnerships.

The benefits of this protocol can be summarised as follows:
 securing an integrated approach to the JSNA and the STA,
 aligning business plans and strategies and related priority setting,
 ensuring safeguarding is embedded throughout the governance arrangements,
 identifying a co-ordinated approach to communication, learning and 

improvement, performance management, change and commissioning 
arrangements,

 evaluating the impact of strategies and commissioning decisions on outcomes 
for the citizens of Salford, and

 enabling cross-partnership scrutiny and challenge and ‘holding to account’.

Respective business managers, including those from other partnerships as 
appropriate, will meet quarterly or more frequently as required to share issues of 
common interest and to assist in implementation of the protocol and co-ordination of 
each partnerships business. Minutes of the partnership meetings will be circulated to 
all Chairs and business managers.

5. Practical arrangements to secure co-ordination of business

The following arrangements detail how the effective co-ordination and coherence in 
the work of the partnerships will be achieved.

 Between September and November each year, the Independent Chairs of the 
two Safeguarding Boards will present their Annual Reports to the SHWB and the 
SCSPB, outlining performance against Business Plan objectives in the previous 
financial year and may include recommendations and areas for the SHWB, the 
SCSPB and the SSHP to address.

The 025AB will have an opportunity to contribute towards the Annual Report and 
to make comment on its content before it is presented to the SHWB. The plan will 
be supplemented by a position statement on the partnerships performance in the 
current financial year.

This will provide the opportunity for the SHWB, the SSHP and the SCSPB to 
scrutinise and challenge the performance of the partnerships, to draw across 
data to be included in the JSNA and CSP strategic analysis and to reflect on key 
issues that may need to be incorporated in the refresh of the Health and Well-
being Strategy (Locality Plan) and the CSP Strategy.

 Between October and February each year, the SHWB, the SSHP and the 
SCSPB will present to the Safeguarding Boards the review of their respective 
strategies, including the refreshed JSNA and CSP analysis and the proposed 
priorities and objectives for each, including any response to issues raised in the 
Safeguarding Boards annual reports.

Page 64



Page 9 of 18

This will enable the Safeguarding Boards to scrutinise and challenge 
performance and to ensure that the refreshed Safeguarding business plans 
appropriately reflect relevant priorities set by the SHWB, the SSHP and the 
SCSP.

 Between April and June each year the partnerships will share their refreshed 
plans for the coming financial year to ensure co-ordination and coherence.

The Chairs of all the partnerships will meet annually for a joint development day that 
will enable priority setting and lead partnership responsibilities to be defined.

Respective business managers will maintain an informal network to share issues of 
common interest and to assist in the co-ordination of each partnerships business. 
The network will include the business managers for Skills and Work, Strategic 
Housing Partnership and 0-25 Board, thus enabling closer collaboration and 
alignment of all the partnerships.

The Business cycle

April - June
Annual review of 

respective 
Business Plans

September - 
November

Presentation of 
Safeguarding 

Annual Reports

January - March
HWB and CSP 
JSNA/STA and 
strategy refresh

6. Governance arrangements

The overarching governance for the city is led by the City Mayor with a group of City 
Leaders who drive forward the vision and ambitions for the city.

The SSAB and SHWB are set up by the local authority and the Responsible 
Authorities for the SCSPB hold shared responsibility for their statutory function.

The SSCP is hosted by the Local Authority and accountable under Working Together 
to Safeguarding Children 2018 to the three statutory partners: Clinical 
Commissioning Group, Police and the Local Authority. Governance for specific areas 
of responsibility is shown in Appendix Three. The diagram is representative rather 
than prescriptive. Lead partnerships will provide scheduled updates on their thematic 
responsibilities, both to other partnerships and fora as appropriate in an iterative 
cycle. All partnerships will apply the core principles, in particular the culture of 
scrutiny and change, understanding the effectiveness of services and identifying 
priorities for change, including where services need to be improved, reshaped or 
developed.

Chairs of respective partnerships will evaluate progress of the objectives of this 
protocol on an annual basis.

Page 65



Page 10 of 18

7. Sign off and Review

This protocol is signed off by the undersigned on behalf of Salford’s Safeguarding 
Adults Board (SSAB), Safeguarding Children Partnership (SSCP), Community 
Safety Partnership Board (SCSPB) and Health and Well-being Board (SHWB).

A review of the protocol will be co-ordinated by Board Chairs on an annual basis or 
when national guidance affecting any of the Boards/ Partnerships is revised or 
introduced.

This protocol signed off:

Signed Date
Safeguarding Adults 
Board (SSAB)

Safeguarding Children 
Partnership (SSCP)

Community Safety 
Partnership Board 
(SCSPB)

Health and Well-being 
Board (SHWB)

Page 66



Page 11 of 18

Appendix One
Salford Partnership Statutory Functions

Salford Safeguarding Adults Board
Under the Care Act 2014, local authorities must set up an Adult Safeguarding 
Board.

Safeguarding Adults Boards have three core duties under the Care Act. They 
must:
 develop and publish a strategic plan setting out how they will meet their 

objectives and how their member and partner agencies will contribute,
 publish an annual report detailing how effective their work has been, and
 commission safeguarding adults reviews (SARs) for any cases which meet 

the criteria for these.

Under the Care Act, local authorities take on new functions. These are to make 
sure that people who live in their areas:
 receive services that prevent their care needs from becoming more serious, 

or delay the impact of their needs,
 can get the information and advice they need to make good decisions about 

care and support, and
 have a range of providers offering a choice of high quality, appropriate 

services.

Responsible Authorities/ Statutory Board Members
Local Authority
GMP
Clinical Commissioning Group
SRFT ASC

Contacts:

Page 67

http://www.scie.org.uk/care-act-2014/safeguarding-adults/safeguarding-adults-boards-checklist-and-resources/strategic-plans/index.asp
http://www.scie.org.uk/care-act-2014/safeguarding-adults/safeguarding-adults-boards-checklist-and-resources/annual-reports.asp


Page 12 of 18

Salford Safeguarding Children’s Partnership
The Children and Social Work Act 2017, The Child Safeguarding Practice 
Review and Relevant Agency (England) Regulations 2018 and Working 
Together to Safeguard Children 2018 guidance legislate for changes, which 
include all local areas to publish new multi-agency Safeguarding children 
arrangements led by three statutory agencies.

These are the local authority, clinical commissioning groups and police. It also 
establishes a national Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel.

In addition to the strengthened role of these agencies, the role of every 
organisation and every individual in keeping children safe remains critical and 
legislated under Section 11 of The Children Act 2004. Each agency is also 
subject to their own legislative frameworks and guidance about safeguarding 
children. Examples include Keeping Children Safe in Education (DfE, 2018); 
Safeguarding and Protecting People for Charities and Trustees (The Charity 
Commission, 2018); Safeguarding Children and Young People – Roles and 
Competences for Healthcare Staff (Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health, 
2014).

• Evaluate practice and its impact to ensure professionals and organisations 
within Salford keep all children safe.

• Beassured that safeguarding is as effective as possible, using a range of 
mechanisms to co-ordinate, monitor, challenge and improve both our 
services, and outcomes for children and young people

• Learn from every opportunity and ensure we have a skilled workforce who 
have access to up to date, relevant information to help them to keep children 
safe and happy.

Contact: www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/sscp.htm 

Responsible Authorities/ Statutory Board Members
 Safeguarding Partners: (Local Authority, GMP, Salford CCG)
 Relevant Agencies List as stipulated in The Child Safeguarding Practice Review 

and Relevant Agency (England) Regulations 2018

Contacts:

Page 68

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/sscp.htm
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/789/contents/made


Page 13 of 18

Salford Community Safety Partnership Board
Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 provides a legislative duty on 
responsible authorities to take account of crime and disorder within all planning 
and decision-making processes.

As amended by the Crime and Disorder (Formulation and Implementation of 
Strategy) (Amendment) Regulations 2011 (Statutory Instrument no. 
2011/1230), responsible authorities have a duty to:
 have a strategy group to govern the review of expenditure of partnership 

monies and the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of this expenditure 
(CSP Executive Group),

 commission and implement a strategic assessment and partnership plan and 
produce a publicly accessible summary plan,

 the strategy group shall have, as a minimum, two or more persons appointed 
by one or more of the responsible authorities, and

 hold at least one public meeting a year.

As amended by the Police and Justice Act 2006, every local authority shall 
ensure that it has a committee (the “crime and disorder committee”) with power to:

a) review or scrutinise decisions made, or other actions taken, in connection 
with the discharge by the responsible authorities of their crime and disorder 
functions;

b) make reports or recommendations to the local authority with respect to the 
discharge of those functions.

Responsible Authorities/ Statutory Board Members
Local Authority
GMP
National Probation Service/ Community Rehabilitation Company
Fire and Rescue Service
Clinical Commissioning Group

Contacts:

Page 69



Page 14 of 18

Salford Health and Well-being Board
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 gives health and wellbeing boards these 
specific functions. These are a statutory minimum and further functions can be 
given to the boards in line with local circumstances. The statutory functions are:
 to prepare Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNAs) and Joint Health and 

Well-being Strategies (JHWSs), which is a duty of local authorities and 
clinical commissioning groups (CCGs).

 a duty to encourage integrated working between health and social care 
commissioners, including providing advice, assistance or other support to 
encourage arrangements under section 75 of the National Health Service Act 
2006 (i.e. lead commissioning, pooled budgets and/ or integrated provision) 
in connection with the provision of health and social care services.

 a power to encourage close working between commissioners of health-
related services and the board itself.

 a power to encourage close working between commissioners of health-
related services (such as housing and many other local government services) 
and commissioners of health and social care services.

 any other functions that may be delegated by the council under section 
196(2) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012. For example, this could 
include certain public health functions and/ or functions relating to the joint 
commissioning of services and the operation of pooled budgets between the 
NHS and the council. Such delegated functions need not be confined to 
public health and social care. Where appropriate, they could also, for 
example, include housing, planning, work on deprivation and poverty, 
leisure and cultural services, all of which have an impact on health, well-
being and health inequalities.

Responsible Authorities/ Statutory Board Members
At least one councillor from the relevant council* 
Director of adult social services 
Director of children’s services 
Director of public health 
A representative of the local Healthwatch organisation 
A representative of each relevant clinical commissioning group (CCG) 
Any other members considered appropriate by the council 

* Requires that the councillor membership is nominated by the executive leader or 
elected mayor with powers for the mayor/ leader to be a member of the board in 
addition to or instead of nominating another councillor.

Contacts:

Page 70



Page 15 of 18

Appendix Two
Salford Inter-Board Priorities

Salford’s Great Eight Salford Safeguarding Adult 
Board

Salford Safeguarding 
Children Partnership

2018-

Salford Community 
Safety Partnership

2016-19

Salford Health and Well-
being Board

2016-21
Vision: to ‘create a 
Better and Fairer 
Salford’

Strategic Priorities:
 tackling poverty 

and 
homelessness,

 maximising social 
value in everything 
we do,

 improving 
education and 
skills,

 transforming 
health and social 
care,

 a new approach to 
affordable 
housing,

 place-based 
inclusive 
economic growth,

 improving 
transport 
connectivity, and

 governing the 

Aim to:
 prevent harm and reduce 

the risk of abuse or 
neglect to adults with care 
and support needs,

 stop abuse or neglect 
wherever possible,

 safeguard adults in a way 
that supports them in 
making choices and 
having control about how 
they want to live,

 promote an approach that 
concentrates on 
improving life for the 
adults concerned,

 raise public awareness so 
that communities as a 
whole, alongside 
professionals, play their 
part in preventing, 
identifying and 
responding to abuse and 
neglect,

 provide information and 
support in accessible 
ways to help people 

Priority 1: Neglect

Priority 2: Complex 
Safeguarding

Priority 3: 
Communication and 
Engagement

Assurance Area 1: 
Early Help

Assurance Area 2: 
Children Affected by 
Domestic Abuse

Assurance Area 3: 
Emotional Health and 
Wellbeing

Aim to:
 build safer, 

stronger, more 
resilient 
communities in 
Salford,

 reduce the fear of 
crime.

Priorities:
 Driving down 

crime,
 Tackling anti-

social behaviour,
 Building resilient 

communities,
 Protecting 

vulnerable people,
 Reducing 

offending.

Ambition to:
 improve life 

expectancy in 
Salford so that the 
gap between Salford 
and the UK average 
is reduced, and

 improve health and 
well-being at every 
stage of life – 
starting, living and 
aging.

Purpose to:
 improve health and 

well-being across 
the city and reduce 
health inequalities

 create an integrated 
system that 
responds to local 
needs and assets, 
and gains public 
confidence

 empower people to 
improve their own 
quality of life, 

P
age 71



Page 16 of 18

council as a 
transparent and 
effective 
organisation.

understand the different 
types of abuse, how to 
stay safe and what to do 
to raise a concern about 
the safety or well-being of 
an adult,

 address what has caused 
the abuse or neglect.

improve the long-
term health of 
communities and 
promote individual 
responsibility and 
behaviour change.

P
age 72



Page 17 of 18

Appendix Three
Salford Lead and Support Partnerships Governance

Lead Board L
Supporting Board S

Community Safety 
Partnership Board

Safeguarding Adults 
Board

Safeguarding 
Childrens 

Partnership

Health and Well-
being Board

Other

Adult Offending L S
Advocacy L S
Child Sexual Abuse and 
Exploitation

S L

Children and Young People 
Offending

L S S

Community cohesion L
Complex Safeguarding S L L S
Counter terrorism/ Prevent L S S S
DOLS (Deprivation of Liberty) L S
Domestic Abuse L S S S 0-25 Advisory Board
Drugs and Alcohol L S S L
Early Help S 0-25 Advisory Board
FGM L S S S
Financial Abuse L
Honour based violence L L S
Making Safeguarding Personal/ 
Voice of the Child

S L

Missing from Home, Care and 
Education

S L

Modern Day Slavery/ Human 
Trafficking

L S S S

Neglect L L S
Safeguarding Adults S L S S
Safeguarding Children S S L S 0-25 Advisory Board
Scams L S S S
Self-neglect L S

P
age 73



Page 18 of 18

Community Safety 
Partnership Board

Safeguarding Adults 
Board

Safeguarding 
Children’s

Health and Well-
being Board

Other

Hate Crime L S S S
0-25 Transformation S 0-25 Advisory Board
People Based Innovations, for 
example Learning for Life, FACT, 
Learning City

0-25 Advisory Board

Voice of the Child L 0-25 Advisory Board
Locality Plan – Start Well L 0-25 Advisory Board
Locality Plan – Live Well S L
Locality Plan – Age Well S L
Locality plan – Better Care S S L
Locality Plan – Adult Mental Health 
and Well-being

S S L

Locality Plan – Child Mental Health 
and Well-being

S S L 0-25 Advisory Board

Poverty and inequality Lead Officer: Jon 
Stancombe

Financial inclusion Lead Officer: Alison 
Burnett/ Catherine Connors

Education and skills Skills and Work Board
Health and social care L Lead Officer: Judd Skelton/ 

Peter Brambleby
Economic development Lead Officer: Justin 

Bentham
Housing and homelessness Strategic Housing 

Partnership
Transport and connectivity Lead Officer: Jim Wensley
Social value Lead Officer: Miranda 

Carruthers-Watt
Environment and carbon reduction Lead Officer: Mike 

Hemmingway
Equalities and social justice Lead Officer: Magda Sachs
Engagement and citizenship Lead Officer: Sue Hill/ 

Denee Cassidy

P
age 74



1

Salford Partnership Boards Sub-Groups 2019/20

Salford 
Partnership 

Boards 

Salford 
Safeguarding 
Adults Board

Salford 
Safeguarding 

Children 
Partnership

Salford 
Health and 
Well-being 

Board
Salford 

Community 
Safety 

Partnership 
Board

Salford 
Strategic 
Housing 

Partnership

Salford Skills 
and Work 

Board

P
age 75



2

Salford's Safeguarding Adults Board (source: provided by Ann Brooking @ 23rd July 2019)

P
age 76



3

Salford’s Safeguarding Children Partnership (source: provided by Tiffany Slack @ 10th July 2019)

P
age 77



4

Salford’s Health and Well-being Board (source: provided by Chris Howl @ 28th March 2019)

Reporting overview
Scrutiny

Locality Plan Programme 
Management Board 

Intelligence and 
Performance group

Communication and 
Engagement group

City Council 
Cabinet, Voluntary 
Sector Leaders and 

other partners

Prevention Better Care Enabling

Prevention and Better Health 
Board (proposed)

Integrated 
Care 

Advisory 
Board 

Integrated 
Adult Health 

and Care 
Commissioning 

Joint 
Committee

(ICJC)

3x Acute 
Sector  

Programme 
Boards

Workforce 
Strategy 
Group

Estates 
Strategy 
Group

IMT Strategy 
Group

Healthwatch and user / public engagement forums 

Officer Reference group (proposed)

Locality Leaders 
Group (informal)

Locality Delivery Framework –
dashboard, milestone plan, 
progress reporting, risk registers

GM Portfolio Board 

Locality outcomes dashboard, 
progress summary, Implementation 
Plan highlight reports

Social Value 
Alliance

Locality Plan 

Children and Young People’s 
Trust (Start Well)

Safer Salford Board

Salford Health and Wellbeing Board 

Group / role in 
development

KEY

Group in place 

P
age 78



SALFORD PARTNERSHIP BOARD’S SUB-GROUPS 2019-20

 5

Salford Integrated Governance Structure (provided by Jenny Noble @ 9th April 2019)

P
age 79



SALFORD PARTNERSHIP BOARD’S SUB-GROUPS 2019-20

 6

Salford’s Community Safety Partnership Board (source: provided by Roselyn Baker @ 28th March 2019)

P
age 80



SALFORD PARTNERSHIP BOARD’S SUB-GROUPS 2019-20

 7

Salford’s Strategic Housing Partnership (source: provided by Julie Craik @ 11th July 2019)

Salford Strategic Housing Partnership

Housing Investment Group Safeguarding in Housing Group

Homelessness Strategy Monitoring Group

P
age 81



SALFORD PARTNERSHIP BOARD’S SUB-GROUPS 2019-20

 8

Salford’s Skills and Work Board (source: provided by Alison Burnett @ 28th March 2019)

P
age 82



Item no.

Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of report Salford Health Care Associated Infections and Health Protection Annual 
Report 2018/19

Date 30 August 2019

Contact Officer Beverley Wasp
Beverley.wasp@salford.gov.uk
0161 793 3562

Salford Health Care Associated Infections and 
Health Protection Annual Report 2017/18

1. Executive Summary

This report provides an update on health care associated infections and health protection 
issues within the Salford health economy. 

Key points
 Last year there was 64 cases of C. diff infections.  Following the root cause analysis 

2 cases were avoidable (may have been preventable) due to prescribing practice. 

 Gram Negative bloodstream infections (GNBSI) need to be reduced by 25% by the 
year 2021. Our data (as well as national data) shows the highest proportion of these 
infections are caused by the bacteria E. coli. Urosepsis is responsible for a large 
proportion of both pre 48 hour and post 48 hour cases, the majority of the pre 48 
hour cases being diagnosed in A&E. Reducing incidents of urinary tract infections in 
older people living in the community will reduce the incidents of GNBSI.

 Overall there is a high standard of infection control GP practices in Salford.

 Overall Infection control standards have improved in Salford care homes. However 
the Health Protection Team need to continue to work closely with homes to ensure 
standards are maintained.  A small number of homes are rated amber and the team 
will continue to work with these homes to raise standards. 

 The flu vaccination uptake has increase amongst care home staff this year, the 
team need to work with home owners next year as well as the manager to increase 
uptake further.  5 homes improved uptake significantly to meet the target of 75% or 
above. This seemed to be homes where home owners were involved in promoting 
the vaccination.

Page 83

Agenda Item 13

tel:01617933562


2. Introduction and Background

2.1
Infections associated with health and social care continue to be an economic burden to both 
providers of care and to individuals and therefore remain high on the current political 
agenda. They can often result in unnecessary or prolonged stays in hospital, increased 
treatment costs, loss of independence, loss of earnings and can in some cases be fatal.

Reducing the risk of infection and communicable disease is something that everyone must 
take some responsibility for. Supporting members of the public, health and social care 
professionals and partner organisations is therefore a key function of health protection. 

Page 84



3. Position Statement

3.1 Infection Prevention and Control Structures in Salford

Salford’s Health Protection (HP) Team is part of the Public Health Team at Salford City 
Council (SCC).  There is a memorandum of understanding in place between SCC and NHS 
Salford Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). The HP Team carries all surveillance on 
health care associated infections (HCAIs) on behalf of the CCG.

The team provides a monthly report to the CCG Lead Nurse, Quality Assurance & 
Improvement summarising the assurance gained from primary and social care providers 
through root cause analysis of HCAIs and audit. 

As part of the effort to continually improve the quality of care in Salford, the HP Team also 
works closely with Salford Royal Hospital Infection Prevention and Control Team, as well as 
other partners in the city, to ensure the provision of safe, clean care in both primary and 
secondary care settings.

3.2 Public Health England’s Role

Public Health England (PHE) helps to protect and improve the nation's health and wellbeing, 
and reduce health inequalities.  PHE supports local HP Teams by sharing information and 
expertise around communicable diseases.  PHE GM Screening and Immunisation Team 
(SIT) commission screening and immunisations for the whole of Greater Manchester.  Local 
Public Health Teams work with the SIT team, challenging levels of uptake and supporting 
them locally to increase uptake. 

4. Performance

4.1       Health Care Acquired Infections (HCAI)

4.1.1     MRSA Bacteraemias

MRSA bacteraemia cases fall into 2 categories: 

Pre 48 hr - the blood culture is taken and tested within 48hrs of admission to hospital.

Post 48hr – the blood culture is taken and tested 48hrs or more after admission to hospital.

NHS Salford is responsible for all blood cultures results from patients registered with a 
Salford GP (CCG cases).

Salford’s Health Protection Team follow up and undertake root cause analysis (RCA) on all 
pre 48hr cases. The hospital team (HIPCT) follow up and undertake RCA on the post 48hr 
cases.

During the year April 18/19 there have been 7 cases of MRSA bacteraemia:
4 community acquired (pre 48hr) and 3 hospital acquired (post 48hr). 
The HP team carried out RCAs on all 4 community acquired cases see Figure 2.   

Page 85



There is a zero-tolerance approach (ambition to have no cases) to avoidable MRSA 
bloodstream infections nationally to ensure that all health care providers employ the highest 
possible standards of infection prevention practice. 

Figure 1: Number of MRSA Bacteraemia cases, Salford CCG: 2013-14 to 2018-19

Figure 1 shows the number of CCG cases (those patients registered with a Salford GP) 
each year over the last 6 years.  Cases identified from the community can be difficult to 
prevent, as patient compliance with preventative measures may be difficult to achieve 

Figure 2: Summary of RCAs, conducted by Salford HP Team, on pre-admission MRSA 
Bacteraemia cases, 2018-19

Date Focus of infection / cause Lessons for learning
1 21-Apr-18 Osteomyelitis.  Bi-lateral 

charcot neuro-arthropathy
GP: Incorrect completion of laboratory 
request form

2 07-May-18 Osteomyelitis originated from 
diabetic foot ulcer

SRFT: wound care assessment and 
body mapping delayed
SRFT: CVC device documentation not 
as IV policy

3 20-Nov-18
2 previous MRSA BSI.  Patient 
lifestyle and none completion of 
medical treatment

SRFT: No documentation for removal of 
cannula

4 16-Feb-19 Respiratory – influenza virus No lessons for learning identified

Page 86



4.2 Clostridium difficile Cases

CDI cases fall into 3 different categories:

Pre 72hr – the stool sample is taken and tested within 72hrs of admission to hospital.

Post 72hr - the stool sample is taken and tested 72hrs or more after admission to hospital.

GP – the stool sample is taken / requested by the GP.

Salford Health Protection Team follow up and undertake root cause analysis (RCA) on all 
pre 72hr cases and GP stool samples. The hospital team (HIPCT) follow up and undertake 
RCA on the post 72hr stool specimens.

For 2018/19 there have been 64 cases of C.diff attributed to the CCG. The trajectory was set 
at 61 so we were over trajectory by 3 cases.

2 cases were avoidable due to prescribing practice. 

None of the cases were living in a care home setting. 

Figure 3: Incidence of Clostridium Difficile attributed to Salford CCG, 2018-19

Figure 4 - shows the number of cases annually. It also shows the number of cases which 
were avoidable and unavoidable, thus highlighting the low number of avoidable cases. The 
overall rate is similar than the national rate (Feb19).

Page 87



Figure 4: Number of annual avoidable and unavoidable Clostridium Difficile cases, 
Salford CCG, 2013-14 to 2018-19

It is important to focus on the number of avoidable cases rather than the total cases.  All 
cases go through a rigorous root cause analysis. Over the last 6 years, we have seen a 
degree of random variation in the total number of cases annually. 

Nearly all those diagnosed with CDI in Salford have an underlying health condition. It is also 
clear that those with a compromised immune system, such as those aged 65 and over, are 
most at risk of CDI.

Figure 5 shows the largest group affected by CDI in Salford are the over 65 year olds. Our 
older population is increasing: in 2013 we had 34,882 residents aged 65 years and older 
living in Salford, and in 2017 that increased to 36,264. The Official for National Statistics 
project that Salford’s over 65s population will reach 43,850 in ten years (by 2029), which 
could result in a growth in CDI cases.  

We need to work together to reduce non-communicable disease amongst the Salford 
population reducing the need for antibiotics and thereby reducing the risk of C.diff. 

Figure 5: The proportion of Salford CCG CDI cases attributed to patients aged 65 and 
over; 2013-14 to 2018-19
Year 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19
Cases (all age) 60 64 73 57 78 64
Cases (age 65+) 38 43 49 36 64 39 
Proportion 65+ cases 63.3% 67.2% 67.1% 63.2% 82.1% 60.9%

Page 88



Figure 6 shows antibiotic prescribing / condition in the preceding 3 months prior to CDI 
diagnosis.  30 cases were examined (pre 72hr and GP cases from April 2018 to March 
2019). This year antibiotic treatment for sepsis is the predisposing factor for the highest 
proportion of cases. This will be due to the use of a broad spectrum antibiotic, these cases 
will have been identified in A & E being very poorly on admission. UTIs are a common 
infection and will be tackled via the E-coli programme of work.  

Figure 6: Antibiotic prescribing / underlying condition in preceding 3 months prior to 
CDI diagnosis, 2018-19
Theme / Cause – 30 cases Number of cases Percentage
Antimicrobials prescribed within guidance 28 93%
Antimicrobials prescribed outside of guidance 2 7%
Number treated for respiratory infection (known COPD) 3 10%
Number treated for urinary infection 8 27%
Number treated for sepsis - 9 30%
Number of cases due to transmission 0 0%
Number of relapse cases (toxin positive) 9 30%
Number of cases associated with previous antibiotic use 28 93%
Number of cases with request for timely faecal specimen 28 93%
Number of cases with timely CDI treatment 29 97%

4.3 - E-Coli Bacteraemia

The new 5yr AMR strategy outlines a revised and reduced target for Gram-negative blood-
stream infections highlighted as follows: 

‘Continue work to halve healthcare associated Gram-negative BSIs, adopting a 
systematic approach to preventing infections and delivering a 25% reduction by 2021-

2022 with the full 50% by 2023-2024’.
This new target is considered to be more achievable than the previous target set at 50% by 
2021.

Figure 7 shows the number of Salford Primary Care registered E-coli cases identified pre 48 
hour admission and post 48 hour admission (any Acute Trust) from April 2018 to April 2019.

There was a total of 206 cases assigned to Salford CCG for the financial year. 163 were pre 
48 hours admission and 43 had been in hospital post 48 hours.

Page 89



Figure 7: Number of Salford Primary Care registered E-Coli cases identified pre and 
post 48 hour admission, 2018-19

Figure 8 compares the number of cases monthly during 2017-18 compared to 2018-19.  
Both years we had a total of 206 cases. 

Figure 8: Comparison of the number of E. coli cases by month between 2017-18 and 
2018-19

Figure 9 shows the common causes of E-coli bacteraemia in those confirmed cases 18/19, 
including those that were pre 48 hours (hospital admission) and those who had been 

Page 90



hospital inpatients for more than 48 hours (unknown are those case that we have not access 
to medical records).

Figure 9: Common cause of E. coli bacteraemia in confirmed cases 2018-19

Figure 10 shows the age range of those diagnosed with an E-coli bacteraemia. 63% of 
cases are over the age of 65 and the rate (35.0 per 10,000) is four times the next highest 
(8.7 in the 50-64 age band). 

Figure 10: Crude rate per 10,000 E. coli bacteraemia by age band; Salford CCG 
registered 2018-19

Page 91



Those affected by E-coli mainly fall into the over 65 age bracket. Out of the total 206 cases 
last year, 17 were care home residents, none of whom had catheters. In fact, the data shows 
that most of those affected do not have catheters, even those living in care homes.

The E-coli data we have collected from July 2017 to April 2019 shows that urosepsis is 
responsible for a large proportion of both pre 48 hour and post 48 hour cases, the majority of 
the pre 48 hour cases being diagnosed in A&E.

The HP team have developed prevention packs, providing a range of resources for UTI 
prevention.  Of the 2 packs developed, one is for primary care, and has been delivered to 
practices via the primary care newsletter, the information has also been made available on 
the extranet.  

Salford Gram Negative Bloodstream Infections (GNBSI) Group has been exploring ways of 
improving communication with GP practices and now has a GP member, Dr. Budden. We 
are currently looking at the data to see if we can identify any further common themes that we 
can target, and will be collecting further data over the coming 3 months.  Following this a 
further action plan will be developed. 

The HP team are also in the process of developing a GNBSI training package for primary 
care, to raise awareness of the national ambition to reduce these types of infection.  We will 
be offering staff training sessions at different locations across the city and would encourage 
all primary care staff to attend.

A training pack for prevention of Urinary tract infection has also been developed for social 
care staff and has been sent out to all care homes in Salford.  We will visit all care homes 
across Salford to deliver training throughout 2019.

5.0 Influenza Vaccination Programme

Figure 11: Summary of Salford's 2018-19 influenza vaccination programme by patient 
cohort

Patient 
Cohort

2018-19  
Eligible

2018-19 
Vaccinated 

2018-19 
Rate %

2017-18 
Rate % Target

Over 65s 37,489 27,342 72.9% 74.8% 78.2%
(local)

At Risk 
Adults 35,472 15,359 43.3% 45.8% 55% 

(national)
Carers 3,064 1,012 33.0% 39.1% -

Pregnant 3,313 1,388 41.9% 44.2% 55% 
(national)

2-3 year olds 7,332 2,448 33.4% 39.3% 48%
(national)

Primary 
Schools 19,552 11,580 59.0%  54.6% 65%

(national)
Sub-Total 106,222 59,129 55.6% 62.2% -

Page 92



Salford’s comprehensive flu report will follow at a later date prepared by the Chair of the 
Salford flu group (Tori Quinn).

Uptake is has decreased across all cohorts this year.  This is following the national trend.  
The flu group are looking at ways to tackle the problem. However although percentage 
uptake was reduced in comparison with last year, the actual number of people vaccinated 
was higher in most cohorts. This shows that potentially we have a good flu programme in 
place but that increases in population represent a challenge.

The team put a number of plans in place for winter 18/19 to help increase the uptake 
amongst care home staff. See appendix 1 for a detail report on the programme. This 
included a flu vaccination programme targeting all Salford care homes. We started at the 
end of the flu season last year, when the team contacted all care homes in Salford to learn 
more about uptake amongst their staff. Initially the managers, with the exception of one, 
didn’t know how many of their staff had received the flu vaccination. As expected however, 
eventually we confirmed that uptake was poor. In contrast, it is worth noting that the uptake 
amongst residents is high due to the fact we have one GP practice servicing the care home 
population. 

We have also encouraged family members visiting relatives in care homes to take up the 
vaccination. Even for those who may not be eligible for free vaccination, to help protect their 
relative, we would recommend them funding their own vaccination. 

Page 93



6.0 Care Homes / Health and Social Care

As mentioned in section 4.2 the elderly population within Salford continues to increase. The 
current demand on Community Health Care continues, as does the demand for Intermediate 
Care, Continuing care and Nursing/ Residential Care services.  

Within communal care settings, the potential for spread of infectious disease can rise 
significantly. Such infections have major implications for care home establishments including 
ill health amongst the residents and staff, avoidable hospital admissions, delayed 
discharges, home closure and death.

During the period between 2018/ 2019, the HP Team have audited 100% of all Residential 
and Nursing Care Homes across Salford to gain an accurate account of standards of 
infection control and to identify areas of improvement required. The team then work with the 
homes, where required, to raise standards of infection control to improve care.

6.1 Audit

Total number of care homes in Salford monitored by Health Protection (HP) Team. 

Nursing/ Dual Registered: 13
Residential: 18 

For the purposes of this report they are collectively referred to as care homes.

Number of care homes audited in 2018/19 = 31 (100%)

Beech House residential home closed down during 2018.
The Limes is now looked after by the Infection, Prevention Control Team at SRFT as the 
service is managed by SRFT staff.

6.2 Training 

Number of care homes that have received infection control training from the team = 10

Total number of training sessions provided 2018/19= 15 
Total number of attendees = 155

6.3 Infection Prevention Control Champion Group
All care homes are encouraged to have an infection control link champion. The HP Team 
hold regular meetings for the champions.  Champions are given the opportunity to choose 
the topics covered to enable them to widen their learning, improving care. The agenda is 
also set around learning issues identified from the audits.

6.4 Outbreaks in Salford Care Homes

6.4.1 Respiratory Tract Infection (RTI) Outbreaks in Salford Care Homes 

Figure 12 below shows details of RTI outbreaks in Salford care homes during last winter 
2018-19.

Page 94



Figure 12: LRTI care home outbreaks 2018-19

There were 4 separate respiratory outbreaks in care homes.  

- 3 were confirmed Influenza A
- 1 outbreak – no organisms were detected in samples tested (NAD- nothing abnormal 

was detected).

4 patients were hospitalised and sadly 2 passed away due to complications associated with 
the LRTI. 

Figure 13 shows the number of respiratory outbreaks each winter over the last 5 years.  

Figure 13: Respiratory outbreaks and outcomes, winter period 2014-15 to 2018-19
2014-

15
2015-

16
2016-

17
2017-

18
2018-

19
Number of Care Homes had an outbreak 6 3 1 7 4
Hospital admissions 26 0 0 22 4
Deaths 8 1 0 2 2

2014/15 saw a down turn in effectiveness which was due to antigenic drift. This meant that 
strains of flu circulating in the community weren’t fully covered by the strains contained in 
vaccine.

17/18 saw an increase of Flu B due to the reoccurrence of a strain that hadn’t been seen for 
many years and which wasn’t in the adult vaccination.  This strain was added to the 
vaccination for winter 2018/19. 

This year, there has been a national decline in the flu vaccination uptake.  There seem to be 
many more conversations this year questioning how effective the vaccination is, with people 
losing confidence in the vaccination.  This isn’t helped by the media.  This is not supported 
by the evidence we have from outbreaks over the last 5 years which shows that the vaccine 
is effective. Those older people with deteriorating immune systems for example, may still get 
the flu after being vaccinated but they are less poorly and less likely to be admitted to 
hospital or die as a result of the infection. 

Figure 14 shows that when the vaccination is well matched to circulating flu strains, hospital 
admissions and deaths associated with flu are reduced.

Date Home Days 
Closed Organism Affected Hospitalised Death

17-Feb-19 Home 1 10 Flu A 13 1 nil
23-Feb-19 Home 2 12 NAD 17 nil nil
5-Mar-19 Home 3 9 Flu A 8 3 1
8-Mar-19 Home 4 7 Flu A 7 2 1

TOTAL 6 2

Page 95



6.4.2 Enteric Outbreaks 

Over the year 2018/19 enteric outbreak caused the closure of 16 homes for a total of 122 
days 

8 were confirmed Norovirus
8 no organism was identified. 

Viral gastroenteritis outbreaks are extremely difficult to prevent in care homes due to a 
number of factors.  Factors such as the environment and difficulties isolating some residents, 
for example the Elderly Mental Infirm EMI.  The HP Team role is to support the homes daily, 
giving telephone advice on management, with the aim of reducing the spread and keeping 
the length of the outbreak as short as possible. 

The HP Team provides the Homes with outbreak packs 3 times a year, autumn, Christmas 
and Easter.  The packs include guidance on the management of both enteric and respiratory 
outbreaks, along with useful resources for support. We continually encourage homes to take 
up the outbreak training we offer.

7.0 General Practice

All GP practices in Salford are audited during a 2 year period, those carrying out minor 
surgery are audited every 18 months. The audit tool has been designed to support GPs in 
meeting the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 as part of their registration 
with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) in April 2013.

25 General Practices were audited in Salford during 2018/19.
14 of these carry out minor surgery (including joint injections) and therefore also have a 
separate minor surgery audit. All of the minor surgery audits were rated green.

All 25 of the General Practices audited were rated green.

Page 96



None of the practices were rated amber or red during the reporting period.  

65 General Practice staff were provided with infection control training during this period.  
Training sessions are offered bi-monthly.  Places are available for up to 25 staff and the 
sessions are delivered at the City Council main campus. If we have a waiting list, more 
sessions are provided. 

The HP Team remain committed to improving standards of infection control in line with the 
Health and Social Care Act (2008) and will continue to work alongside the GPs in Salford to 
maintain and improve upon current standards.

The management of CDI cases is an example of the effective partnership working between 
the HP Team and the GPs in Salford.  All RCAs are discussed with GPs and lessons learnt 
shared, in particular around antibiotic prescribing.

8.0 Measles Outbreak in the Jewish Community
Measles is highly infectious - the most infectious of all diseases transmitted through the 
respiratory route. Measles can also be severe, particularly in immunosuppressed individuals 
and young infants. It is also more severe in pregnancy, and increases the risk of 
miscarriage, stillbirth or preterm delivery.  The most effective way to control measles is by 
achieving high uptake of two doses of measles, mumps, rubella (MMR) vaccine.

In recent years we have seen a slight decline in uptake in Salford.  Salford has the largest 
Jewish community outside of London with a small proportion of the community living over the 
border in Bury and Manchester.  Consequently, when managing the outbreak, we refer to 
the Jewish community, as this includes those residents living on the outskirts of the Salford 
border.

During the autumn of 2018, outbreaks of measles in Jewish communities across the world, 
primarily in Israel, USA and London were reported.  The Salford Jewish community were 
concerned about the risk to their children that were unvaccinated.  Historically the Jewish 
community over all have a poor uptake for childhood immunisations.  Local intelligence tells 
us this is mainly due to the fact that most Jewish families have many children so have little 
time to attend the GP practice for vaccinations and there is also a lack of participation due to 
religious and cultural beliefs.  

We responded to the concerns by providing mass vaccination clinics. These were set up by 
the 3 GP practices serving the Jewish community in Salford.  Clinics were advertised across 
the community and in the Jewish Advertiser newspaper delivered to every household.  The 
response was high, with the GP practice vaccination clinics booked up in advance.

As expected, an outbreak of measles was declared in the Salford Jewish community in early 
January 2019, with initially, 2 confirmed cases.  GP vaccination clinics were still busy, so we 
provided a number of extra, mass vaccination drop in clinics in a number of locations across 
the community, this included evening and Sunday clinics. 

Local communication was supported by the CCG, SCC, PHE and SRFT.  We also used local 
Councillors and local Jewish community workers to help us understand the best way to get 
the key message of ‘Get your MMR’ out to the community. We also worked with many more 
relevant organisations such as the Jewish schools, local Rabbis and the Jewish Forum.

Page 97



As of mid – May we have had approximately 33 cases (confirmed and probable), mainly in 
children under 18 years. Fortunately there have been no serious cases or deaths. During the 
outbreak, despite of a lot of communication asking people not to turn up at the GP or A&E 
before calling ahead, there were still a number of cases that did turn up unannounced at 
SRFT A&E. This resulted in contact tracing having to be carried out, to ensure appropriate 
action was taken to protect other vulnerable members of the population who happened to be 
in A&E at the same time.  

As there have been no reported cases since the middle of April, following an Outbreak 
control meeting, if agreed by the group, the outbreak can be declared over after 42 days 
(double the incubation period).   

9.0 Conclusion 
During the peak of the outbreak the GP practices and the Community Immunisation Team 
worked hard and delivered an estimated 660 vaccinations.  A large proportion of them being 
to children over the age of 5 years, with a small number given to adults. 

Communication delivered across the community was extensive, using the local paper, social 
media and local shops and many other ways to get key messages in to the community. 

Uptake of the MMR will always remain lower in this community and there will be a proportion 
of the population who, due to religious and cultural beliefs, will never take up the MMR or 
any other vaccination to prevent disease.

During the outbreak, we also identified that the GP data and Child Health data did not 
correlate well.  A group has been set up to resolve this issue and to look a long term 
solutions. This is being supported by the GP Practices and Child health and being managed 
by PHE Screening and Immunisation Manager.

A long term communications plan is being developed, aimed at the whole Salford population 
with some focus in minority groups throughout the city. 

10.0 Recommendations made to the Quality Commissioning Committee

1. The Quality Commissioning Committee is asked to note the contents of this report. 

2. Consider the association of long term conditions and HCAIs.   The majority of C. 
difficle infections are unavoidable in Salford and the infection affects mainly those 
with multiple co-morbidities.  We need to educate people better in Salford on 
prevention, keeping people health and well. 

3. Improve the uptake of MMR vaccination in 0-5 year olds across the whole Salford 
population and identify and work with minority groups that have a low uptake.

4. Increase uptake of the of the flu vaccination across of eligible cohorts, especially in 
the 2 and 3 year olds as they are ‘super spreaders’ putting the more vulnerable 
population at risk of flu. 

5. We need better engagement from primary care, community care providers and social 
care providers to achieve a reduction on gram negative bacteraemia infections. The 
ambition set by NHS improvement to reduce GNBSI by 25% will need a whole health 
economy approach or this will not be achievable. 

Page 98



Report completed by –
Beverley Wasp
Head of Health Protection 

Page 99



Appendix 1
Part 1 - Open to the Public 
Part 2 – Closed to the Public 

ITEM NO.

REPORT OF
Director of Public Health

TO
Lead Member Briefing for Adult Services, Health & Wellbeing

TITLE:  A report of seasonal influenza vaccination uptake amongst staff in Salford care homes 2019

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Vaccination of front-line heath care workers against influenza reduces the transmission of infection 
to vulnerable people. Vulnerable people within the care of front-line care workers are at higher risk 
of a severe outcome if they contract flu. By protecting themselves with the flu vaccine, care workers 
in care homes can reduce the risk of spreading flu to residents. Vaccination can also prevent 
disruption to the care services care homes deliver. 

From October 2017, flu vaccination for care staff working in residential / nursing homes has been 
free.  Initial recording of flu vaccine uptake within care homes was limited with very few managers 
knowing the total number of staff vaccinated.  However, this season 2018 / 2019, the Community 
Infection Prevention and Control Team requested all managers of Salford care homes both to 
promote the vaccination amongst care workers and record the numbers of staff who received the 
vaccine.

Endeavours by the Infection Prevention and Control Team to increase uptake within care workers 
has seen 9% increase.  Findings from this work also shows managers and owners who engage heavily 
in promoting the vaccine have a higher rate of uptake.  There is a need to both educate staff and 
managers about the importance of protecting vulnerable residents by vaccinating staff who care for 
them.

 

Introduction

Vaccination of front-line heath care workers against influenza reduces the transmission of infection 
to vulnerable people. Vulnerable people within the care of front-line care workers are at higher risk 
of a severe outcome if they catch flu. 

Typically, older people do not respond as well to the flu vaccine due to their naturally weaker 
immune system.  Older people are also more likely to suffer complications from influenza. 

Page 100



Therefore, unless contraindicated, care staff have a responsibility to be vaccinated to protect the 
people they care for from flu.  It is important that everyone is aware how their decision to be or not 
be vaccinated can impact others.

For most people who are healthy, influenza is an unpleasant but self-limiting illness. However, for 
older people and those with chronic health conditions such as those living in care homes, influenza 
can be serious and life-threatening.  The influenza virus spreads easily, especially in care settings, by 
respiratory droplets and direct contact with respiratory secretions.

Care workers, even those with mild or absent symptoms, may be able to spread flu virus to 
residents.  By protecting themselves with the flu vaccine, care workers reduce the risk of spreading 
flu to residents and causing disruption to the care services they deliver.  This is particularly important 
in the autumn and winter seasons, when pressures on front-line services may be severe.

Another Important aspect of staff receiving the flu vaccine is to reduce the risk of secondary 
bacterial infection which is often associated with influenza infection. When an individual is infected 
with a virus such as flu they are more susceptible to a secondary bacterial infection such as a chest 
infection / pneumonia.   Often this secondary infection will require treatment with antibiotics which 
adds to the ever increasing burden of antimicrobial resistance.

Background

In October 2017, NHS England announced it would add care home workers directly involved in the 
care of vulnerable clients to the eligible groups for NHS flu vaccination, obtainable through GP 
practices and community pharmacies. 

The scheme meant that those working in residential / nursing homes providing direct resident care 
to would be able to obtain the flu vaccine free of charge.  This inclusion was continued in the 2018 / 
19 vaccination programme1. There are currently around 1200 care staff working in Salford care / 
nursing homes who are eligible under this scheme.

Findings

There is currently very little data that has been collected on the number of care workers nationally 
who are vaccinated in residential / nursing homes, however uptake is thought to be low2.

Early 2018, the Community Infection Prevention and Control Team (CIPCT) contacted all Salford care 
homes to obtain data on how many front-line care staff working in their facilities had received the 
flu vaccination.  Unfortunately, most managers were initially unable to give this information.  
However, upon liaising with their staff some data was reported back to the CIPCT. Unfortunately, 
this data was not completely accurate as most home mangers reported that they were only able to 
provide rough estimates. The data (Table 1) from flu season 2017 / 2018 shows most home 
manager’s estimated very poor uptake rates.

During this flu season 17/18, nine Salford care homes suffered outbreaks due to lower respiratory 
tract infection, most of which were diagnosed as influenza.  A total of 22 residents were admitted to 
hospital, sadly, this resulted in two deaths. So it was really important this season to promote the flu 
vaccination amongst care workers and increase uptake rates.  Table 1 & 2 shows the overall 
percentage vaccine uptake rates amongst care worker in Salford care homes.

Page 101

http://www.nhs.uk/livewell/winterhealth/pages/fluandthefluvaccine.aspx


Annex 1: Percentage care home staff vaccination uptake in flu season 2017-18

Chart 1: Total uptake percentage for Salford care home staff in flu season 2017 / 2018

Table 2 

To help improve uptake rates, the CIPCT initially issued a flu champion’s pack to each care 
home in September, 2018.  The packs contain a list of participating 

In September 2018, the CIPCT issued each home manager with a flu champion pack.  The pack 
contained details of pharmacies where staff could obtain their free vaccine (this was on production 

Declined
 80%

Received
 20%

Declined Received

Total uptake percentage for Salford care home staff in flu season 2017 / 
18 

Annex 2: Overall up take on Salford care home in 2017-18

Page 102



of their employee ID badge), a facts and myths leaflet, a ‘Flu Kills’ poster to be displayed in the 
home, flu resource cards, flu badges, a template form for managers to collect staff uptake rates and 
covering letter.  The covering letter explained that for homes which achieved an uptake rate of 75% 
or above, a ‘Certificate of Excellence for Flu Vaccination Uptake’ issued by the Care Home Excellence 
Programme would be awarded. The letter also encouraged managers to make allowances for staff to 
be given time within the working day to get their vaccination, with the assumption that staff were 
more likely be vaccinated if this was an option. 

Following delivery of the flu champion packs, weekly emails were sent to each of the managers 
reminding them to promote the vaccine campaign.  Suggestions to help support mangers in the 
promotion were included such as Carol’s Story3 and PHE: Guidelines on the management of 
outbreaks of influenza-like illness in care homes4. Carol’s Story is a YouTube video which was 
produced by the Health Protection Agency and is the journey of a young fit and healthy Health 
Visitor who contracted Swine Flu. The video is powerful in its message of why the vaccine is 
important for young healthy people.  

The Infection Control Link Champions Group which is run by the CIPCT is a bi-monthly forum 
attended by care home staff where infection control topics are discussed and specific training is 
delivered.  This was seen as good opportunity to help promote uptake amongst care workers and 
therefore, influenza infection and vaccination was included in the sessions delivered leading up to flu 
season 2018 / 2019.  Unfortunately, due to reduced capacity of the CIPCT, this group was unable to 
host any meetings during October, 2018 – February, 2019.

Staff flu vaccination uptake is also included in the face-to-face infection control training offered by 
the CIPCT, which was also seen as a good opportunity to further promote the vaccine leading up to 
and during the flu season.  This gave the team a chance to speak to staff directly and discuss the 
reasons why they would refuse the vaccine, try to allay any fears and anxieties and answer any 
questions.  Carol’s story was also discussed at these sessions and many staff were surprised to learn 
that fit, healthy young people could become seriously unwell with flu. Many staff reported they did 
not want the vaccination as they believed it is ineffective.  It was reported this information was 
mostly obtained from posts on social media platforms that vaccines are ineffective or even 
dangerous.  This was despite receiving the facts and myths leaflet issued by the CIPCT.  Staff also 
reported that because they are well they did not need the vaccine or that they have never had flu so 
don’t need vaccinating. For a full list of reasons staff gave for not accepting the vaccination please 
see appendix 1. 

Staff uptake numbers was requested from the home managers in February 2019.  Some managers 
were quick to respond to the request, whereas with others, it required numerous emails, follow-up 
phone calls and home visits until the information was received.  There was also a mixed response 
from managers as to how the programme had faired.  Some managers were keen to promote and 
reported there was a positivity about their vaccination programme, whereas others appeared 
somewhat lethargic in their response, with comments such as ‘they didn’t want it and there’s 
nothing I can do’.  Comments like this shows there is opportunity in future campaigns to educate 
managers to the importance of vaccination.  A recurring comment from managers in helping them 
support the campaign was if pharmacists could visit the home to administer the vaccine in-house 
rather than staff taking the time out to visit the chemist or their GP.  This service currently is not 
available under the scheme, however, the suggestion is valid but not currently financially viable.   
Annex 3 shows uptake rates for individual homes in season 2018 / 2019.

Page 103



Annex 3: Percentage care home staff vaccination uptake in flu season 2018-19

Five of the homes achieved uptake rates above 75%.  One of the homes has a manager who is 
conscientious about vaccination and was the only home which achieved a rate of >75% in flu season 
2017 / 2018.  Three of the homes are owned by the organisation HC-One. Managers at these homes 
reported that they were given instruction by Directors of HC-One to promote the vaccine to their 
staff. This was supported by materials such as posters to be displayed within staff rest areas.  
Regular manager meetings were arranged where flu vaccination was discussed, training delivered 
and ideas about promotion was shared. Each week the home manager would report their uptake 

Page 104



figures to head office. Transport to and from the chemist was provided by the home to facilitate 
uptake, which managers commented made a significant difference to rates.  Comments from 
managers all stated there was strong corporate engagement with the campaign, and that managers 
were often pitted against each other to prompt them into obtaining higher uptake rates.  Staff from 
the homes reported that it was really good and reassuring that Directors were seen having their 
vaccination and also those in high positions who were fearful of injections, gave their stories to help 
encourage those in a similar situation.   Following their extensive campaign to promote staff 
vaccination uptake, HC-One received the NHS Flu Fighter Award for Best Flu Fighter Care Campaign 
2019. The reasons given for HC-One winning the award was as follows:

"The winner of this award tackled the challenges of engaging social care staff with the flu 
vaccination boldly and comprehensively. They demonstrated innovation and lead by example by 
working in partnership with key organisations as well as utilising multi-level marketing channels to 
effectively communicate with staff.
 
Their extensive approach included incorporating their flu campaign into the organisations wider 
"winter well-being" campaign, as well as, gaining buy-in from senior teams and enlisting flu 
champions. 
All this activity saw this organisation achieve their most successful flu vaccination campaign yet, for 
sheer volume of effort the winner is HC-One Ltd."5

Using ideas from the success of HC-One to promote future campaigns could involve contacting home 
owners to request they assist directly with flu programme. 

Comparing overall vaccine uptake rates amongst Salford care homes this season with last. The total 
number of staff vaccinated in the 2017 /2018 flu season accounted for 20%: Chart 1.  During this 
season the flu pack was issued as is generally done each year along with details of the free 
vaccination for care staff, however there was no further engagement by the CIPCT in specifically 
promoting the vaccination.

This year following endeavours by the CIPCT, home managers and corporate owners in promoting 
the vaccine, there was an increase of 39% in staff uptake rates.

Page 105



Chart 2: Total uptake percentage for Salford care home staff in flu season 2018 / 2019

The 2018 / 2019 flu season, there have been a total of 4 respiratory outbreaks reported to the 
CIPCT, three of which were confirmed influenza.  Of the three confirmed flu outbreaks, there was a 
total of 3 hospital admissions and sadly 1 death, however this death was expected and therefore 
unclear if it was a result of the outbreak.  The three homes involved had staff uptake vaccination 
rates of 9%, 20% and 24%, all of which well are below the mean average percentage of 39% for 
Salford care homes, further supporting the importance of care staff flu vaccination.

Conclusion

Protecting vulnerable older people in our care homes is something that should be practiced by all 
those involved in their care and promoted by the agencies that support them.  It would appear that 
flu vaccine uptake has historically been poor amongst care workers in residential / nursing homes, 
however with increased promotion rates can be increased.

From gathering data of the last two Salford flu vaccine programmes, it has been seen that not just 
home managers but senior management and owners involvement is paramount in increasing the 
rates of uptake amongst care workers.  

If flu vaccine uptake rates can be further increased in future campaigns, this can only help protect 
our vulnerable population within Salford care homes by reducing the risk of contracting influenza 
and its associated complications.

Recommendations

Declined
 61%

Received
 39%

Declined Received

Total uptake percentage for Salford care home staff in flu season 2018 / 2019 

Page 106



1. Continue to send the flu champions campaign pack to home managers at the start of the flu 
season.

2. Continue to promote the vaccination at CIPCT infection control training with information 
and advice around flu and the vaccine.

3. Continue to promote the vaccination at Infection Control Link Champion Meetings with 
education and advice around flu and the vaccine.

4. Continue to gather data of care workers flu vaccination uptake year-on-year.

5. Develop a training package for managers around the importance of flu vaccination amongst 
care workers in protecting vulnerable residents.

6. Contact home owners / senior managers requesting they engage in assisting with the flu 
campaign for their homes and emphasizing the benefits of increasing uptake amongst staff. 

RECOMMENDATIONS:  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

Available for public inspection)

KEY DECISION: YES / NO  

DETAILS:  

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:  

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: 

Page 107



PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:  

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:  

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:

CONTACT OFFICER: TEL NO:  

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES:  

References

1: Enhanced Service Specification: Seasonal influenza vaccination programme for health and social 
care workers 2018 / 19. NHS England

2: Flu vaccination programme in England; ninth report of session 2017 – 19. House of Commons. 18th 
October 2018

3:  YouTube: The results of not having the influenza vaccine. ‘Carol’s Story’ 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ehq4dfCfjfA   Accessed 26th March, 2019 
 
4. PHE, October 2018: Guidelines on the management of outbreaks of influenza-like illness in care 
homes. Version 4.0

5.  NHS Employers.org. Flu fighter awards 2019 www.nhsemployers.org.  Accessed 26th March, 2019

Page 108

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ehq4dfCfjfA
http://www.nhsemployers.org/


96 100 93 96 89 94
97 0 0 0 90 99 0 0 83 96 0 0 92 0 0 0 93 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 95 0 0 0 93 0 0 0 98 0 0 0 87 0 0 0
95 92 91 95 97 0 0 0 64 72 95 92 94 0 0 0 99 0 0 0
88 89 91 77 77 96 69 68

Walkden Manor Abbey Grove Thornton Lodge Hope Manor Beech House CLOSED

94 86 85 85 92 95
84 0 0 0 87 96 0 0 86 94 0 0 95 0 0 0 92 0 0 0
83 0 0 0 76 92 0 0 90 0 0 0 90 95 0 0 92 0 0 0
71 0 0 0 97 0 0 0 86 0 0 0 94 0 0 0 77 93 0 0
97 94 84 87 93

The Limes (SRFT) The Willows Alderwood Heath Cottage Laburnum Court

99 97 92 96 80 80 80 80
99 0 0 0 94 93 0 0 90 0 0 0 92 0 0 0 87 88 0 0
0 0 0 0 84 0 0 0 91 0 0 0 97 0 0 0 72 74 86 0
99 0 0 0 98 0 0 0 87 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 79 89 0 0
96 86 96 95

Barton Brook The Broughtons Wentworth House Newlands Abbeydale

91 95 80 95 93 93 97
93 97 0 0 95 0 0 0 96 0 0 0 93 0 0 0 92 0 0 0
85 88 0 0 97 81 0 0 0 0 0 0 93 93 0 0 0 0 0 0
81 92 0 0 75 97 0 0 95 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 94 0 0 0
64 75 91 80 93 95 93

The Fountains Kenyon Lodge Claremont Lodge Arden Court Pendleton Court

95 97 99 97 88
96 0 0 0 92 0 0 0 93 0 0 0 97 0 0 0 97 0 0 0
95 0 0 0 98 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 97 0 0 0 92 0 0 0
97 0 0 0 96 0 0 0 91 0 0 0 97 0 0 0 94 0 0 0
94 90 96 95 93 94

Amadeus Ecclesholme Beenstock Pemberton Fold Holly Court

96 98 99 96 97
96 0 0 0 99 0 0 0 94 0 0 0 97 0 0 0 94 0 0 0
98 0 0 0 97 0 0 0 99 0 0 0 98 0 0 0 93 0 0 0
81 0 0 0 97 96 0 0 97 0 0 0 98 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
89 82 92 95 89 99

Moorfield House Blue Bell Court Beechfield Lodge Broughton House Heartly Green

94 93
86 97 0 0 94 0 0 0
94 0 0 0 71 0 0 0
93 0 0 0 81 98 0 0
91 87

Cherrytrees Worsley Lodge

Annual Audit Score for Salford Care Homes (April 2014 - April 2019)

Key

2018/19 Audits Red:        0 - 50%
Amber: 51 - 91%
Green: 92 -100%

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



1 of 1

Salford Health and Wellbeing Board Statement on E-Cigarettes 

The purpose of this document is to outline a consensus for the Salford Health and Wellbeing Board on the 
harms and benefits of using e-cigarettes.  It is aimed at both health professionals and the general public.

Background

Smoking rates in Salford have reduced from 27% of the adult population smoking in 2011 to 21% in 2017.  
Fewer than 15% of the adult population in England are smokers.

There are more than 40,000 smokers in Salford.  This is the second highest smoking rate in Greater 
Manchester (second only to Manchester). Smoking rates remain significantly higher in more deprived 
communities, those with mental health concerns and LGBT+ communities.

Evidence

E-cigarettes are now the most popular aid to quitting smoking used nationwide. Public Health England’s 
evidence review in 2019 showed that vaping e-cigarettes is less harmful to health than smoking tobacco 
and can help smokers to quit1.  Nicotine is the addictive component of both types of cigarette, but 
conventional cigarettes contain many additional harmful chemicals that are a significant risk to themselves 
and those around them.   

Smokers switching to e-cigarettes experience significant harm reduction. Greatest benefits are achieved by 
stopping smoking completely. 

E-cigarette awareness and experimentation among young people has increased but regular use remains 
rare and almost entirely confined to those who are already smokers. This needs careful monitoring.  E-
cigarettes are regulated and are illegal to sell to those under 18.  In Salford we need to ensure that this is 
effectively enforced.

Salford Position

E-cigarettes are useful as a potential route towards stopping smoking. Swapping from smoking tobacco to 
using an e-cigarette has significant health benefits.  Access to e-cigarettes needs to be controlled carefully; 
use of these products by children or non-smokers is strongly discouraged. 

There is still a lot we do not know about e-cigarettes, particularly risks related to their long-term use. They 
are not completely risk-free, but based on current evidence they have a much lower risk than tobacco. 

We must ensure that all smokers in Salford have access to the help and support they need to reduce and 
quit tobacco smoking.  Smokers willing to quit smoking are offered 1:1 support and advice, and treatments 
and should include use of e-cigarettes.

Pregnant smokers should be encouraged to quit smoking completely and those trying to quit smoking using 
an electronic cigarette should not be discouraged to do so.

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/vaping-in-england-an-evidence-update-february-2019

Page 111

Agenda Item 14

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/vaping-in-england-an-evidence-update-february-2019


This page is intentionally left blank



SALFORD’S HEALTH AND WELL-BEING BOARD

1

FORWARD PLAN 2019-20

Date and time of meeting For assurance (regular reporting) For discussion / decision For information

Tuesday 14 May, 2019

2:00 – 4:00pm
Salford Suite, SCC

Business Meeting

 Q4/ Year End 2018/19 Locality plan 
highlight report and risk register.

 Better population outcomes through 
commissioning and leadership

 2019/20 Salford Health and Well-
being Board Forward Plan

 Salford Special Education Need 
Annual Report 2017/18

 Salford Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Transformation Plan: 2015 – 
2020 (Updated March 2019)

Tuesday 10 September, 
2019

2:00 – 4:00pm
Salford Suite, SCC

Business Meeting

 Q1 2019/20 Locality plan highlight report 
and risk register.

 2019/20 Year End (Year 3) Locality Plan 
Finance update and forward look

 Housing, Health and Homelessness update 
report

 Salford’s VCSE Strategies and Agreements 
Update

 2019/20 Salford Health and Well-
being Board Forward Plan

Tuesday 12 November, 2019

2:00 – 4:00pm
Salford Suite, SCC

Business Meeting

 Q2 2019/20 Locality plan highlight report 
and risk register.

 North West Alzheimer’s Society (tbc)

 tbc

 2019/20 Salford Health and Well-
being Board Forward Plan

Tuesday 11 February, 2020

2:00 – 4:00pm
Salford Suite, SCC

Business Meeting

 Q3 2019/20 Locality plan highlight report 
and risk register.

 Salford All Age Mental Health Strategy update 
report

 Salford’s Safeguarding Adult Board update 
report

 Salford’s VCSE Strategies and Agreements 
update report

 Salford Health and Well-being Board Annual 

 2019/20 and 2020/21 Salford Health 
and Well-being Board Forward Plan

P
age 113

A
genda Item

 16a



SALFORD’S HEALTH AND WELL-BEING BOARD

2

Review 2018/19

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT SESSIONS 2019/20

Date and time of 
meeting

Purpose, Content and Output of sessions

x 2019: re-schedule 12th 
March 2019 2-4pm 
session (Salford Suite 
at Salford City Council)

Focus: Green assets, physical activity and wellbeing

Lead contact(s): Gillian Mclauchlan

Purpose: tbc

Summer 2019: xth June/ 
July 2019 2-4pm 
(Salford Suite at Salford 
City Council)

Focus: Economic, skills and health/ social care

Lead contact(s): ?

Purpose: ?

Autumn 2019: xth 
October 2019 2-4pm 
(Salford Suite at Salford 
City Council)

Focus: 

Lead contact(s): 

Purpose: 

Winter 2019/20: xth 
December 2019 2-4pm 
(Salford Suite at Salford 
City Council)

Focus: 

Lead contact(s): 

Purpose: 

Spring 2020: xth March 
2019 2-4pm (Salford 
Suite at Salford City 
Council)

Focus: 

Lead contact(s): 

Purpose: 

P
age 114


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Meeting held on Tuesday 14 May 2019. (Chair)
	7 Salford Safeguarding Adults Peer Review and Response Report (Steve Pugh)
	8 Salford Locality Plan - progress update: (Anthony Hassall)
	9 Co-production What, Who and How? (Chris Dabbs)
	10 Draft Salford Locality Plan refresh proposals/outline (Peter Brambleby)
	10_Locality Plan Chapter 0   Contents, Foreword and Executive Summary

	12 Salford Inter-Board Protocol and Board Sub-Groups (Peter Brambleby)
	12i_Salford Partnership Boards Sub-Group 2019-20 V3.5- 23 7 19

	13 Salford Health Protection Annual Report (Bev Wasp)
	14 Draft Salford E-Cigarette Statement (Peter Brambleby)
	16a 2019/20 Salford Health and Well-being Board Forward Plan

